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Vision
EPSL’s Vision is to be the 

preferred gateway Port to the 

Goldfields-Esperance and 

Yilgarn Regions of Western 

Australia.

Mission
Provide services that are 

competitive, innovative and 

customer focused.

Work with our people and our 

partners to deliver economic 

growth to the region.

Operate in a socially 

responsible and sustainable 

manner.

Values
Demonstrate efficiency and 

business acumen to our 

shareholders.

Show respect and integrity in 

dealings with our employees.

Provide service and 

act professionally and 

responsively to our customers.

Engage with our community.

Recognise our role in 

preserving our heritage and 

environment.

Vision, Mission and Values
EPSL’s primary role is to facilitate trade, to support industry in this function, operate in a safe 

and efficient manner and return a dividend to the Government of Western Australia.

Contacts
Postal PO Box 35, Esperance WA 6450

Street The Esplanade, Esperance WA 6450

Phone (08) 9072 3333 Fax (08) 9071 1312

Email admin@epsl.com.au Web www.epsl.com.au

Front cover photo: 

Berthing a container carrying vessel.
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2012–2013
Results at a Glance

Operational

Total Trade 

More than 13.875 million tonnes – a record

Total Exports 

More than 13.033 million tonnes – a record

Total Container Trade 

32,721 TEUs – a record

Total Imports 

841,071 tonnes

Number of Cargo Carrying Vessels 

192

Gross Tonnage 

More than 9.106 million tonnes – a record

Financial

Revenue 

More than $68.7 million – a record

Expenditure 

More than $70.612 million – a record

Financial Result 

Trading loss of $469,000

Capital Expenditure 

More than $3.3 million

Employee Benefits 

More than $15.53 million



The Port continues to be a major economic driver to the 
growth and development of the local and surrounding 
communities. Based on the Ports 2012–13 revenue base, 
economic modelling recently completed by the Goldfields 
Esperance Development Commission indicates that demand 
for goods and services in the Esperance Region directly 
attributable to the Port totalled $110 million and that the 
multiplier effect on local wages and salaries external to the 
Port was a further $12 million.

On that note, it is pleasing to report that during 2012–13 
significant progress has been made to return the Port to a 
sound financial position. The lead incident in 2007 proved 
to be very destabilising across the entire organisation and 
severely tested the Port’s financial resolve; however, we 
believe that steps taken during 2012–13 have the Port well 
placed for the future.

We would like to acknowledge the support received from the 
State Government during the year which has greatly assisted 
our efforts. In November 2012, the Economic Expenditure 
and Review Committee (EERC) approved a raft of support 
measures. The most valuable of these being an increase 
of $13.2 million to the Port’s borrowing limit. This provides 
the financial capacity to plan and undertake a range of 
maintenance and capital projects that had been identified as 
requiring urgent attention. These projects, which are expected 
to be largely completed during the 2013–14 financial year, 
include:

Hughes Road upgrade to interface with the Port’s transport •	
corridor;
Maintenance dredging;•	
Rail network upgrade;•	
Black Swan Storage Facility demolition; and•	
Purchase of critical spares for the container crane.•	

During 2012–13 the Board continued to address legacy 
issues that have negatively impacted on the Port for a number 
of years. These included issues relating to the impaired 
Mineral Concentrate Circuit (MCC) and the contractual 
arrangements with customers and contractors.

The MCC was impaired by a further $3 million during the 
year bringing the total impairment on this asset to $6.5 
million. This reflects the independently assessed value of the 
amount required to recommission this asset in the unlikely 
event that bulk nickel exports are resumed. Cargo handling 
contract negotiations with the Port’s major clients continue 
to be advanced and we remain optimistic that they can be 
positively resolved during 2013–14. The Port’s long-term 
financial sustainability rests heavily on these issues and is key 
to the Port ultimately delivering the sustained return on assets 
expected by Government.

I am pleased to report that despite recording a small after tax 
trading loss of $469,000, the underlying profitability of the 
Port was sound and as a result the Port’s cashflow improved 
considerably. After deducting abnormal expenditure items 
such as the costs associated with the proposed Multi User 

Iron Ore Facility, asset impairment 
and write-downs, EPSL’s normalised 
operating profit was in the region of 
$4 million.

This was built on a revenue base of $69 million which was 
a record for the Port and up $12 million from the previous 
year. Growth was largely attributable to increased iron ore 
exports and continued development in the nickel and sulphur 
businesses. Total trade for the year was a record 13.875 
million tonnes, an 18 percent increase on 2011–12.

The Multi User Iron Ore Facility (MUIOF) project evolved during 
the year in accordance with the direction received from the 
Minister for Transport. The market sounding exercise indicated 
genuine interest in the project and the potential requirement 
for a new facility capable of initially handling between 10 
and 12 million tonnes of iron ore from the Yilgarn Region of 
Western Australia. Two consortia have been appointed to 
prepare proposals for the new infrastructure, the scope and 
cost of which will be principally determined by the ability of the 
proponents to secure long-term take or pay contracts.

Although the MUIOF pre-procurement phase will require 
an investment by the Port of approximately $11 million, the 
immediate cashflow requirements have been underwritten 
by the State Government via access to a short-term loan 
facility in the expectation that the successful proponent will 
reimburse the Port these initial transaction costs. If the project 
does not proceed the Port will seek an equity injection from 
the Government to recoup these costs.

The other major development that the Board progressed 
during the year was the State Government’s merger plans 
for the Esperance, Albany and Bunbury ports. Esperance 
Port continues to work with the Port Amalgamation Steering 
Committee to meet the Government’s commitment of 
establishing the Southern Ports Authority by July 2014.

From a Governance perspective, the Safety Committee and 
the Audit and Risk Committee that were established in the 
previous year are providing the required focus and ongoing 
benefits will be delivered as these corporate governance 
frameworks mature.

In conclusion, I would like to acknowledge the outstanding 
efforts of my fellow Directors and the Port’s CEO Shayne 
Flanagan. In particular, I would like to thank the Board 
and Shayne for their commitment particularly in relation 
to the challenges presented in progressing the MUIOF 
project in a timely manner. I also thank all EPSL employees 
whose dedication and service enabled the Port to achieve 
commendable results during the 2012–13 financial year and 
place the Port in a sound position moving forward.

Bob McKinnon
Chairman

Chairman’s Report

2



EPSL embarked on a program during 2012–13 to identify a 
broad range of activities that required immediate attention 
to place the Port in a strong position to meet its current and 
future obligations. This process encompassed a review across 
the full spectrum of the Port’s administrative and operational 
functions, as well as the implementation of strategies to 
address a range of legacy issues that have curtailed progress 
over the past five or six years.

Significant in this process was the assessment of our major 
assets, which identified what was required to improve 
internal efficiencies that can be passed on as operational 
improvements to our customers. This assessment identified 
the need to dredge our harbour; to upgrade Hughes Road, 
which will be the main entrance to the Port for all heavy 
traffic from 2014; to upgrade the internal rail network to meet 
increased iron ore exports; to implement container handling 
improvements to streamline this line of business; to purchase 
critical spares to improve reliability and productivity of the 
Port’s container crane; and to provide savings in transport 
costs and container handling times.

We have made significant progress on these matters. By the 
end of 2012–13 Federal and State government approvals 
had been given for the dredging work and a tender document 
will be prepared for the work to be carried out in early 2014. 
A contract has been awarded for the rail upgrade and this 
work commenced early in the new financial year. A mineral 
concentrate storage shed that was located adjacent to berth 
two where containers are exchanged has been demolished 
to provide much-needed hard stand space close to the berth. 
Critical spares have been purchased or ordered that will 
improve the reliability and productivity of the crane. 

Consultants provided preliminary design work and options for 
the upgrade of Hughes Road to link with the Port’s transport 
corridor. The options were presented to EPSL’s Board for 
consideration, and further investigations have been requested.

Concomitant with these activities, the Port worked diligently 
on improving its handling rates for the discharge of sulphur 
and exchange of containers that resulted in significant 
efficiency improvements for these businesses. Furthermore, 
by reducing turnaround times for berthed vessels, berth 
capacity was increased for other shipping activities. 

Upgrades to the operating systems and computer hardware 
of the Port’s container crane, along with better training for 
both operations and maintenance personnel, improved the 
reliability of this important infrastructure.

The Port’s land-backed berths were surveyed during the year 
and signs of corrosion and concrete deterioration were identi-
fied. Maintenance work will be carried out to repair damage 
to the decks and corrosion resistance measures undertaken 
to rectify these problems. All bollards on berths one and two 
were replaced because of corrosion. 

During the year the Operations and Maintenance departments 
were restructured to meet ongoing commitments to handle 
increased iron ore exports, container exchanges and sulphur 

discharge, and to maintain Port 
infrastructure to not only meet 
the increased activity but also 
to maintain the productivity 
improvements that have been 
achieved. 

Operational activities were enhanced by an increase in both 
the numbers of operational and maintenance personnel 
– targeted to the areas of planning and supervision. 
The structure of both Departments was also upgraded 
and strengthened with senior personnel to enable the 
improvement program to be fully implemented. 

All of these activities have concentrated on meeting our 
commitments to customer service and the owner of the Port, 
the State Government. EPSL also continued to improve its 
Environmental Management System (EMS) to reflect the 
changes that were occurring to its activities and to deal with 
the increasingly rigorous controls and regulations placed 
on the Port. The EMS now has a greater focus on risk 
controls that are supported by new or amended operational 
procedures.

The Port’s information systems have been progressively 
upgraded during the year. Improvements have been made 
to the software that monitors and manages the throughput 
of product on the iron ore and sulphur circuits. An additional 
server has been installed at a remote site in line with the 
Port’s IT disaster recovery and business continuity plans, 
and a progressive update of all software licences is being 
undertaken so that all of the Port’s computers operate under 
the same operating platform and compliant licences.

I am pleased to report that while all these important activities 
have been a major focus during the year, the Port grew its 
trade and commercial commitment continued, with record 
volumes of trade and revenue figures being recorded. 
Although a small trading loss was reported, the Port’s long-
term financial position has been stabilised and a platform 
established for future profitability.

During the year the Port followed through with its commitment 
to re-establish its relationship with the Esperance community 
by supporting a number of important local events and 
activities as well as a broad cross-section of community 
organisations. 

In conclusion, I extend by gratitude to the EPSL Directors 
for their continued support during the year; a year in which 
we can all be pleased with the progress made in meeting 
our major goals. I also commend all of the Port’s valued 
employees for their loyalty and commitment in another very 
busy but rewarding year and look forward to working with 
them in 2013–14.

Shayne Flanagan
CEO

CEO’s Report
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Humble Beginnings

Esperance Port’s development coincided with the growth 
of the agricultural and mining industries in the Goldfields 
Esperance Region.

Thirty-five years after the Dempster brothers arrived in 1868, 
gold was discovered at Kalgoorlie and the fledgling Esperance 
Port was declared. As early as 1895 a jetty had been built to 
enable ships to berth and land their cargo and small amounts 
of bagged wheat and wool were being exported.

Mallee Grain Exports

From the 1920s, when the Mallee Region was opened for 
farming, the Port and the town’s population grew significantly 
to cater for the growth in grain harvest. A rail link was 
connected between Esperance and Salmon Gums in 1925, 
and soon after was extended to Norseman.

By the 1930s, the large ships berthing at the Town Jetty were 
running aground at low tide because of the shallow depth of 
the water. Diesel power had been introduced on the Goldfields 
and fuel storage facilities had been installed at Esperance to 
cater for this demand.

Work started on a second jetty – initially known as the Deep 
Water Wharf – in 1934 and this was completed in 1935. The 
jetty was never suitable for handling the increased tonnages 
of grain and other products because of the ocean swell, its 
inability to handle bulk products, and again the problem of 
water depth for large, modern cargo carrying vessels.

Major Developments

Two major developments occurred that led to the 
development of land-backed berths in Esperance. First, 
research showed that with the application of trace elements 
and fertiliser the Esperance Coastal Plain could produce 
crops, which led to syndicates taking up large tracts of the 
plain; and second, Western Mining Corporation discovered 
nickel at Kambalda, and because there were no nickel 
refineries or smelters in Australia the product had to be 
shipped overseas as a concentrate for processing.

Esperance required land-backed berths capable of handling 
large volumes of bulk cargo and the ability to berth larger 
vessels. Work started on the first land-backed berth and the 
associated breakwater in 1962 and the first ship loaded grain 
at the berth in October 1965. At this time, Esperance Port 
was handling grain, salt, live sheep, fuel and fertiliser, and in 
1967 Western Mining railed its first cargo of nickel concentrate 
for export to Europe.

In 1972, berth two was completed, and in a major boost for 
the Port and Region, the Port was connected to the east west 
rail link, the only regional port in WA to have a standard gauge 
connection.

Initially, vessels capable of loading up to 50,000 tonnes were 
limited to 30,000 tonnes of cargo at Esperance because of 
the depth of the water alongside the grain berth, and these 
ships had to go to Albany and Bunbury to top up – a time 
consuming and expensive exercise.

In 1988, the waters alongside the two land-backed berths 
were deepened from their initial 10.5 metres to 12.8 metres 
and in 2002 the depth was increased to 14.5 metres. Today, 
Panamax vessels capable of loading or discharging up to 
75,000 tonnes of cargo can berth at berths one and two 
simultaneously.

A Proud History

Below: The original Town Jetty was only 150 metres long.
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1990s Growth Boom

For the 25 years following the establishment of the land-
backed berths, Port growth stabilised with small annual 
increases in cargo volumes. However, the economic boom 
of the 1990s demanded significant new infrastructure at the 
Port.

First, new storage and handling facilities were built to deal 
with the increased tonnages of nickel concentrates. Then in 
1995, Portman Ltd started shipping iron ore out of Esperance 
to customers in Asia from its Koolyanobbing operations. To 
facilitate this export, the Port built a new bulk loading circuit 
including a rotary car dumper, conveyor systems, railway 
infrastructure and iron ore storage sheds to protect the town’s 
environment from red iron ore dust.

In 1999, grain exporter Cooperative Bulk Handling spent $68 
million upgrading its grain terminal, which included installing 
new silos, conveyors and loaders.

Then in 2000, Portman announced a significant increase 
in its iron ore exports that required a $54 million capital 
works program which included the construction of a third 
berth, the reclamation of 23 hectares of land, the building 
of two 300,000 tonne storage sheds, rail upgrades, and the 
installation of a new ship loader on the new berth.

The water depth alongside the new berth at more than 19 
metres, made Esperance the deepest port in Southern 
Australia with the capacity to load cape-sized vessels to 
225,000 tonnes.

Ravensthorpe Nickel Mine

Other major exporters followed: In 2006 BHP Billiton started 
shipping nickel hydroxide in containers from the its $2 billion 
Ravensthorpe Nickel Operations (RNO), and imported sulphur 
for its sulphuric acid plant. To facilitate this trade a $13 million 
dual-purpose gantry crane was purchased and located on 

berth two and a $19 million storage shed was built to store up 
to 120,000 tonnes of sulphur on site before transport to the 
mine site.

In 2006, Portman sold its iron ore operations to American 
company Cliffs Cleveland and the company immediately 
started to plan for increased exports. By 2012-13, Cliffs had 
ramped up their export capacity to 11.5 million tonnes a year.

BHP closed the Ravensthorpe Nickel mine in 2007 before 
selling the operations to Canadian company, First Quantum 
Minerals. FQM recommissioned the mine and resumed 
exporting nickel hydroxide in late 2011-12. FQM is expected 
to export 28,000 tonnes of nickel a year over the 30-year 
life of the mine at full production, and import sulphur and 
magnesium oxide for its treatment plant.

Future Growth

In 2012-13, a study was undertaken to determine private 
sector interest in financing, building and operating a new 
Multi User Iron Ore Facility at the Port to meet the demands 
of the Yilgarn region. Encouraging responses were received, 
and private sector companies were invited to register for 
prequalification to design, finance, build and operate the new 
iron ore circuit at the Port. Two companies have been invited 
to submit tenders for this project.

The proposed expansion would increase iron ore exports 
to about 23 million tonnes per annum and will require a 
significant upgrade of the Port’s existing iron ore infrastructure.

The berth two gantry crane principally purchased for the 
Ravensthorpe nickel operations also provides the Port with 
the opportunity for additional container business. In 2009, the 
Port handled about 3000 containers. In the 2012-13 financial 
year this figure had grown to 32,700 movements.

Above left: The Town Jetty extension – completed in 1898.

Above right: Grace Darling – a regular early visitor to Esperance Bay.
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Ports Merger

In 2012 the State Government announced that seven of the 
State’s eight Port Authorities would be merged to form four 
new regional Authorities. Under this scenario, Esperance Port 
will become part of the Southern Ports Authority, merging with 
the Ports of Albany and Bunbury. The new entity is earmarked 
to commence on 1 July 2014.

The State Government will appoint a single Board to replace 
the three existing Boards to oversee the new Authority. The 
number of Board members will rise from the current five 
on the existing Boards to seven, which will include regional 
representatives.

Although the new Authority will have a single Chief Executive 
Officer, each Port will have a locally based Port Manager, and 
each Port will operate as a separate business unit. 

The Southern Ports Authority will bring a new regional focus 
to each of the existing Port’s functions, including strategic and 
port development, planning, policy and priority setting, and 
financial planning. This streamlining of functions will enable 
each port to respond to the demands of growth, undertake 
broader responsibilities, and meet the growing demand for 
export infrastructure while continuing the primary role of 
facilitating trade.

Benefits expected from the merger include the optimum use 
of existing port infrastructure across the region, improved 
investment decisions, private sector involvement and 
enhanced corporate governance.

With trade rising significantly and new projects on the drawing 
board, Esperance Port looks forward to continuing to serve 
existing and new customers and playing a major role in the 
new Southern Ports Authority.

Multi User Iron Ore Facility

A market sounding was undertaken by the Port in 2012 to 
determine private sector interest in developing a new Multi 
User Iron Ore Facility (MUIOF) at the Esperance Port. This 
followed a demand study that indicated a need for new 
iron ore export infrastructure to cater for mining companies  
wanting to develop their tenements in the Yilgarn Region of 
Western Australia. 

The market sounding indicated that potential investors viewed 
the MUIOF as commercially viable, and that new export 
infrastructure would be required to initially cater for up to 12 
million tonnes of iron ore annually, and a long-term prospect of 
30 million tonnes.

In early 2013, Esperance Port invited private sector parties 
to register their interest and prequalify to be considered to 
participate in a Request for Proposal (RFP) process. Two 
of five consortia that registered an interest in participating 
in a RFP to design, finance, build and operate new export 
infrastructure at the Esperance Port were subsequently short-
listed to tender for the project.

They were Qube Bulk Pty Ltd and Brookfield Infrastructure 
(Australia) Pty Ltd, and Yilgarn Esperance Solution (YES) 
consortium. YES consortium comprises McConnell 
Dowell Constructors (Aust) Pty Ltd, Asciano and Marubeni 
Corporation Ltd.

During the RFP the scope and capital costs of the project will 
be identified based on the level of commercially sustainable 
demand for iron ore export capacity through the Port.

The two consortia are expected to submit their proposals by 
the last quarter of the year, and the preferred proponent will be 
selected in the first quarter of 2014.

Planning for the Future

Below: Aerial view of the Esperance Port.
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Planned Dredging Works

Esperance Port’s annual hydrographical survey of harbour 
waters in March 2013 showed a build-up of sediment within 
the shipping channel and adjacent to berth three. Berths one 
and two are also affected.

Sediment can affect the required under keel clearance of 
vessels entering and leaving the Port, particularly loaded 
vessels such as the large cape size iron ore carriers that are 
currently restricted to tidal movements.

Permits have been sought from Federal and State government 
agencies to secure maintenance dredging approvals.

The Federal Department of Environment (DoE) has determined 
that the required works will not pose a significant risk to any 
marine plant or animal. EPSL is waiting for a Sea Dumping 
Permit from DoE and the go-ahead from WA’s Environmental 
Protection Authority for the work to be undertaken. Once 
approvals have been received, the Port will call for tenders.

It will be the first dredging of the Port since 2001–02 when 
berth three was constructed and the harbour deepened to 
enable cape size vessels to load iron ore and berths one and 
two deepened to enable Panamax vessels to berth.

The Port anticipates that the dredging will be completed by 
early 2014.

New Pilot Boat

Esperance Port has ordered a state-of-the-art pilot boat 
to replace the aging Spitfire that suffered severe structural 
damage in March this year when she was hit by a squall while 
transferring a pilot to a ship.

The $2.2 million, 16 metre long French designed vessel is 
being built in Melbourne by Hart Marine and after sea trials 
will be delivered to Esperance by April next year. The vessel 
is self-righting if capsized, and has excellent sea-going 
performance. Apart from piloting duties, the vessel will be 
equipped to conduct long range sea rescues.

Hughes Road Upgrade 

Hughes Road, which runs along the southern boundary of the 
Esperance Port, has been the main entrance and exit corridor 
for grain carrying road transport vehicles for many years. 
In more recent times, with the shift to the export of nickel 
hydroxide and concentrates in containers, and the trucking of 
bulk sulphur from the Port to the Ravensthorpe Nickel mine, 
the number of truck movements along Hughes Road has 
increased significantly.

With the $120 million upgrade of the transport corridor 
into the Port expected to be completed by early 2014, the 
alternative entrance to the Port from Harbour Road will be 
closed. The realigned transport corridor will connect directly to 
Hughes Road which will become the sole truck access route 
into and out of the Port.

To enable the Port to facilitate future growth, a number of 
operational and safety issues relating to Hughes Road need 
to be addressed. Consulting firm, GHD, has been engaged 
to prepare design options and preliminary cost estimates to 
upgrade the road.  

The upgrading scope includes improving road user safety, 
future proofing road transport links into the Port, constructing 
a road that will minimise whole of life costs and delivering a 
road that meets current Australia design standards.

GHD will complete its design by the end of 2013. EPSL is 
expecting to award a contract for the upgrade late in the first 
quarter of 2014 with an expected construction time of about 
five months.

Above: Major works being undertaken on the Port’s transport corridor.

Above: A pilot boat similar to the one ordered by Esperance Port.
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Corporate Governance

Role of Board

The role of the Esperance Ports Sea and Land Board is to 
perform the functions, determine the policies and control the 
affairs of the Esperance Port Authority, trading as Esperance 
Ports Sea and Land. These include developing strategic 
business plans, monitoring management’s performance in 
implementing plans, and reviewing the Port’s investment 
philosophies and strategies. The Board appoints the Chief 
Executive Officer and reviews performance and remuneration. 
It also ensures regulatory and ethical standards are met and 
risks are appropriately managed.

Board Composition

Esperance Ports Sea and Land consists of a Board of 
Directors comprising five (5) people appointed by the Minister 
for Transport. In appointing a person as Director, the Minister 
must have due regard to all relevant guidelines published, 
approved, endorsed or administered by the Minister for Public 
Sector Management. A member of staff is not eligible to be 
appointed as a Director. A Director may hold office for up to 
three years, and is eligible for re-appointment.

Directors’ Rights

Directors have access to independent legal or financial advice 
as an approved Port expense, and access to Esperance Ports 
Sea and Land records for a period of up to seven years upon 
retirement from the Board. In addition, they have Directors’ 
and Officers’ Liability Insurance cover.

Codes of Conduct

Section 21 of the Port Authorities Act 1999 requires ESPL to 
operate under Codes of Conduct appropriate to the business. 
The Public Sector Commissioner is currently reviewing 
the Port’s existing Codes of Conduct to see if they align 
with the principles set out in Section 9 of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994. The EPSL Board has provided the 
Minister for Transport and the Public Sector Commissioner a 
report on how Esperance Port employees practise the current 
Codes of Conduct as required by Section 23 of the Port 
Authorities Act 1999.

Legislation

The activities of Esperance Ports Sea and Land are governed 
by the Port Authorities Act 1999. The Act has modernised 
Port Authority legislation and provides a clear trade facilitation 
role for Western Australian Port Authorities, with a commercial 
focus on operations. Under the Act, Port Authorities are 
established as commercialised entities and are governed by 
Boards of Directors appointed by the Minister.

Esperance Ports Sea and Land operates under established 
principles and carries out its business in the best interests of 
all stakeholders.

Risk Management

EPSL recognises that risk management is an integral part of 
good management practice and has committed to managing 
risk in accordance with the Australian/New Zealand Risk 
Management Standard ISO 31000:2009.

A revised Risk Management and Business Continuity 
Management Policy is currently being formulated and risk 
reference tables updated as part of establishing a sound 
Risk Management Framework. The Port is utilising external 
expertise in this area to assist with both Risk Management 
and Business Continuity Planning following an audit by the 
Office of the Auditor General in 2012 which highlighted 
areas requiring improvement. The Port will continue to utilise 
the Riskbase Database provided by RiskCover to assist in 
identifying, ranking and implementing controls for Risks where 
practical to do so.

External Audit

The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) has contracted out 
the annual external audit of the Port’s financial function to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. In accordance with the 
Port Authorities Act 1999, Esperance Ports Sea and Land 
is required to submit an audited Annual Report on its most 
recently completed financial year to the Minister within ten (10) 
days of the receipt of the audited opinion from the OAG on 
the financial accounts of the Port.

Internal Audit

During the year the Board of EPSL established an Audit 
and Risk Committee as part of a commitment to improve 
Corporate Governance. EPSL appointed Protiviti as the Port’s 
internal auditor and established an internal audit plan for the 
next two years. Initial testing has concentrated on financial 
controls and will expand to other areas during 2013-14. 
Findings and improvement recommendations are reported to 
management and the Audit and Risk Committee.

Above: Discharging sulphur on berth two.
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Regulatory Requirements

Electoral Act 1907

Section 175Ze of the Electoral Act 1907 requires Esperance 
Ports Sea and Land to include a statement in its annual 
report detailing expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the 
Agency during the current reporting period over the classes of 
expenditure set out below.

Class of 
Expenditure

Organisation/
company

Total Expenditure 
2012-13

Advertising 
agencies

Nil

Market research 
agencies

Nil

Polling 
organisations

Nil

Direct mailing 
agencies

Nil

Media, for 
advertising

Western Australian 
Newspapers

Adcorp Australia

 
$ 3,738

$ 16,205

Record Keeping

Esperance Port recognises the importance of proper and 
adequate record keeping practices.

The State Records Act 2000 requires Esperance Ports Sea 
and Land to report on the following:

Evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of Esperance 1. 
Ports’ record keeping system to ensure it meets the 
requirements of the Act.
Conduct record keeping training as required.2. 
Review the efficiency and effectiveness of Esperance Ports’ 3. 
record keeping training program to ensure it is meets the 
requirement of the Act.
Induct new employees with regard to compliance 4. 
with Esperance Ports’ record keeping system and the 
Esperance Ports’ responsibility in regard to the Act.

The State Record Office approved EPSL’s amended Record 
Keeping Plan on 27 September 2012 for a further five years. 
The Port continues to focus on improving its Record Keeping 
practices.

Disability Services Plan

Esperance Port has a Disability Services Plan in place and 
all aspects of the plan are operational. Periodic reviews take 
place to ensure it complies with both State and Federal 
Government disability legislation.

Freedom of Information

Esperance Ports received no Freedom of Information requests 
during the 2012-13 financial year.

Below: Increasing numbers of cruise ships are visiting Esperance.
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Operational Performance

Esperance Ports Sea and Land (EPSL) handled a record 
13.875 million tonnes of cargo during the 2012-13 financial 
year, an increase of 18 percent over the previous year. This 
growth contributed to a significant rise in the Port’s revenue 
for the year – up from $57.886 million in 2011-12 to $68.688 
million.

Trade Performance

Iron ore continued to dominate Esperance Port trade with 
exports totalling 11.045 million for the year. This represents 
80 percent of Port trade and a 24 percent increase over the 
previous year.

Grain exports remained steady at 1.690 million tonnes. 
Wheat exports were broadly in line with the previous year at 
728,213 tonnes and canola exports increased by 65 percent 
to 363,828 tonnes. This offset the 24 percent decline in barley 
exports from 640,213 tonnes in 2011-12 to 485,115 tonnes.

A highlight for the year was the first shipment of canola into 
China coming from Esperance following the lifting of the 
embargo that was placed on Australian canola imports in 
2004. Other grains exported this year included peas and 
lupins.

Nickel hydroxide exports from the Ravensthorpe Nickel mine 
more than doubled during the year to 169,597 tonnes as First 
Quantum Minerals ramped up the mine to full production. 
Total nickel concentrate exports, however, fell from 299,987 
tonnes the previous year to 216,422 tonnes, which can be 
attributed to BHP Billiton and Xstrata Minerals deciding to 
export their concentrates through Geraldton as a bulk product 
rather than through Esperance in containers.

The growth in exports generated by the Ravensthorpe nickel 
mine contributed to a record 32,815 containers being handled 
by the Port during the year. This was an increase of 21 
percent on the previous year’s total of 27,154, and continues 
the rapid rise in this trade since the Port started handling 
containers in 2008.

Imports for 2012-13 grew to 841,071 tonnes. This was an 
increase of nine percent over the previous year’s total of 
768,311 tonnes. Sulphur used at the Ravensthorpe mine 
processing operations was the major contributor to this 
growth. Sulphur imports were up from 294,494 tonnes 
last year to 367,591 tonnes, and along with an increase 
in magnesium oxide imports, the total imports reflect the 
increased production at the mine. A small increase in fertiliser 
imports was also recorded, up from 71,927 tonnes to 94,090 
tonnes, although petroleum imports fell from 350,814 tonnes 
to 308,559 tonnes.

Operations

Imports-Exports, Year Ended 30 June 2013

CARGO (Tonnes) 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Imports
Container Tonnes Empty - - 9,356 16,674 33,233 35,851
Petroleum 404,472 340,673 304,590 309,997 350,814 308,559
Fertilisers 84,663 75,077 57,775 87,281 71,927 94,090
Sulphur 210,162 74,149 - - 294,494 367,591
Magnesia Oxide 14,331 6,728 - - 17,604 26,998
Sundry 1,290 - - 11 239 7,982
TOTAL IMPORTS 705,918 496,627 371,721 413,963 768,311 841,071
TEU’s IN 1,607 1,565 3,395 6,255 14,210 16,290

Exports
Container Tonnes Empty - - - 33 3,353 2,092
Iron Ore 7,435,699 7,392,929 9,211,331 8,807,994 8,904,585 11,045,649
Nickel 193,491 273,635 323,684 290,647 299,987 216,422
Lead - 8,925 - - - -
Barley 620,905 732,379 611,210 317,360 640,211 485,115
Wheat 677,153 801,701 428,683 945,576 798,880 728,213
Sulphur - 25,000 22,042 - - -
Lupins 10,011 - 19,205 12,792 - 9,216
Peas 33,000 23,685 31,546 36,268 32,817 14,161
Canola 218,467 139,581 247,565 295,669 220,486 363,828
Nickel Hydroxide 35,639 54,384 - - 82,409 168,597
Sundry - - - - 128 680
TOTAL EXPORTS 9,224,365 9,452,219 10,895,266 10,706,339 10,982,856 13,033,973
TEU’s OUT 2071 1,445 2,085 7,930 12,944 16,431
TOTAL TRADE 9,930,283 9,948,846 11,266,987 11,120,302 11,751,167 13,875,044

GROSS TONNAGE 7,345,228 7,628,856 7,886,877 7,571,504 8,136,887 9,106,096
NO. OF VESSELS 192 207 205 184 210 196
NO. OF TRADE VESSELS 185 202 202 181 204 192
TOTAL TEU’S 3,678 3,010 5,480 14,185 27,154 32,721
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Shipping

Shipping Milestones

EPSL handled 196 vessels during the 2012-13 financial 
year, eight less than the previous year. Of the total, 192 were 
trading vessels. While the total number was down on the 
previous year, the total gross tonnage rose from more than 
8.136 million tonnes to a record 9.106 million tonnes. This 
was indicative of the larger iron ore carriers, and sulphur and 
container ships visiting the Port.

Of the total, 68 vessels exported a record 11.04 million 
tonnes of iron ore; 51 carried 1.69 million tonnes of grain; 16 
unloaded 94,090 tonnes of fertiliser; 12 discharged 308,559 
tonnes of petroleum; and eight discharged 367,591 tonnes of 
sulphur.

The Shin Koho, which berthed in Esperance in March 2013, 
and loaded 176,301 tonnes of iron ore, was the largest vessel 
loaded for the year. The largest Gross Registered Tonnage 
(GRT) vessel to visit was the cape-sized iron ore carrier STX 
Orchid, which berthed in August 2012. She had a GRT of 
95,047 tonnes.

Cruise Ships

During the year four cruise ships visited Esperance. Although 
they do not contribute significantly to the Port’s revenue, 
cruise ships make a positive contribution to the local tourism 
industry and are welcomed by the business community. In 
2013-14, up to nine cruise ships are expected to lay anchor in 
Esperance Bay.

Navigation Aids

During 2012-13, EPSL continued its ongoing program of 
replacing navigation aids. This will see all navigational aids 
being upgraded by 2014.

Pilotage

A third Pilot was recruited and commenced work in 
September 2012, and obtained unrestricted status in 
December 2012 after successfully completing the structured 
licensing program. This has provided the Port with a full 
complement of three unrestricted, licenced pilots for the first 
time in several years, and is enabling a backlog of marine 
projects to be progressed.

Security Improvements

EPSL continued to upgrade existing infrastructure and 
implement new security initiatives during the year. These 
include:

Relocating CCTV and card readers as the Port •	
infrastructure is undergoing changes; and
Introducing electronic muster monitoring.•	

Pilot Transfers

The helicopter pilot transfer service that is used for all daylight 
transfers to suitable vessels continued to be an invaluable 
part of the Marine Pilotage operations. This was especially 
highlighted with the loss of the pilot vessel Spitfire.

Oil Response Exercise

EPSL participated in the State-wide oil response exercise, 
Protect Koombana Bay, which was conducted by the 
Bunbury Port Authority earlier this year.

Below: Daylight transfers of Port pilots to and from visiting vessels.
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Stevedoring

EPSL provides a stevedoring service for all products handled 
at the Port except grain. The Port has an ongoing training 
program to improve operational efficiencies and provide best 
value for money to its clients from its stevedoring operations.

Sulphur Operations

At the beginning of the financial year sulphur discharge 
operations would achieve free running throughput of between 
7000 and 8000 tonnes each 24 hours of operation. An 
intensive continuous improvement program was undertaken 
during the year to improve this rate. The program focused on 
enhancing the crane and sulphur circuit reliability, developing 
improved procedures and implementing better training for 
operators. In tandem with these efforts the product importer, 
First Quantum Minerals (FQM), worked with its suppliers and 
vessel charterer to provide sulphur and ships that were more 
compatible with the Port’s materials handling system. 

During the year significant investment was also made in critical 
spares and computer control system upgrades to the crane 
used for the discharge of sulphur imports. 

With satisfactory sulphur product being delivered, the Port can 
now achieve its nominal free running discharge target rate of 
10,000 tonnes a day, with peak rates of 13,000 tonnes a day 
being achieved under ideal conditions.

EPSL has further improved the reliability of the sulphur 
outloading system by fitting a load weighing device to one of 
the Port’s sulphur loaders. This provides a secondary means 
of truck outloading should the sulphur weighbridge be out of 
service for maintenance or repair.

RCD Reliability

EPSL maintains the Rotary Car Dumper (RCD) on behalf of 
iron ore exporter, Cliffs Natural Resources. Work continues 
on improving the RCD operations to maintain unloading 
reliability of the iron ore trains. During the year a shunt tractor 
was introduced and successfully integrated into the RCD 
operations. This has reduced delays and improved turn-
around times for the discharge of the iron ore wagons. 

Iron Ore Outloading

Average iron ore ship loading rates have steadily improved 
from about 2350 tonnes to 2550 tonnes per hour during the 
year. Further improvements in this area are constrained by the 
small-wheel loaders currently used to reclaim product from 
the iron ore stockpiles. During 2013-14, EPSL anticipates that 
the contractor will provide at least two larger wheel loaders for 
iron ore outloading. This is expected to further improve ship 
turnaround times.

Container Exchanges

EPSL has worked steadily on improving its container vessel 
load and discharge rates. An additional skeletal trailer has 
been added to the trailer fleet to better match the supply 
of trucks servicing the container crane during exchange 
operations. A review of the skeletal trailer fleet is currently 
underway to identify opportunities for overhauling the fleet. 
EPSL has also commenced training six additional container 
crane drivers to improve operational flexibility.

Safety

During 2012-13 Operations maintained a safe working 
environment for all its employees and contractors. The 
communication of workplace changes, hazards and incidents 
has improved through structured pre-start meetings. All 
Operations personnel have completed the pre-start Take 
5 initiative and Team Safety Representatives have been 
proactive in promoting the need to constantly assess the 
workplace for hazards and pursue solutions to safety issues.

Above: Sulphur outloading operations for 

transfer to the Ravensthorpe Nickel mine.

Operations Continued
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Asset Management

Black Swan Shed Demolition

In May 2013 demolition of the former bulk nickel storage 
shed (Black Swan Shed) commenced. With nickel producers 
turning to containers to export their concentrates, the storage 
facility had become redundant to the Port’s needs. 

Demolition of the shed will provide valuable container storage 
space adjacent to berth two. This additional storage area will 
eliminate the need to transport containers from the remote 
container storage areas during ship loading. Operational 
efficiency for cargo consolidation and loading activities will 
result.

The demolition work is expected to be completed by late 
August 2013.

Berth Three Fender Replacement

During April 2013, all five fender units on the Port’s iron ore 
berth, berth three, were replaced. This work replaced the 
rubber fender units and the associated frontal plates, while 
an improved system of retention chains has been installed to 
provide a longer working life for the fenders. 

The work was completed on time and on budget with minimal 
disruption to shipping. 

Berth One and Two Condition Assessment

The land backed berths one and two were constructed in 
1965 and 1972 respectively. A condition assessment of berth 
one and a review of berth two was carried out by consulting 
engineers, Vinsi Partners, in mid-2012.

Parts of berth one are showing signs of concrete deterioration 
and spalling and requires remedial work in the near future.

The condition of berth two is much better with little evidence 
of concrete deterioration in the structure. However, the sheet 
piled wall at the rear of both berths was found to be corroded 
and will require preventive maintenance. 

The Report indicated that EPSL should repair cracks and 
patches in the concrete wharf structure, install cathodic 
protection for the deck reinforcement steel and install 
galvanic protection for the back of the berth beams. For the 
piles, touch-up coating was proposed. For the sheet piling 
at the back of the berths a Visco-elastic treatment was 
recommended. Work to repair the berths will commence later 
this year.

Bollard Refurbishment

Hold bolts on berths one and two bollards were found to 
be corroded during inspections in 2012. A contract was 
awarded in early January 2013 for the removal, painting and 
re-instatement of 39 bollards. The work was completed by a 
local contractor in May 2013. 

Drainage Improvements

Esperance Port experiences periodic, isolated flooding events 
because of poor drainage which affects the internal roads and 
hardstand areas that are largely gravel surfaces. These areas 
require frequent, and costly, re-grading and surface repair 
works. 

During the financial year a number of project initiatives were 
pursued to better control stormwater and drainage runoff. 
The work comprised building infiltrations pits and tanks 
and constructing channels to divert runoff to the infiltration 
areas and away from work areas. Additionally, greater use of 
rainwater tanks has been made to lessen the effect of flooding 
during heavy rainfall.

Future planning of stormwater and drainage infrastructure 
will begin during 2013-14 to develop a sustainable long-term 
solution to the Port’s drainage problems. It is anticipated that 
any stormwater and drainage designs will have sufficient 
capacity and flexibility to accommodate the planned 
expansion of iron ore handling infrastructure.

Below: Black Swan mineral concentrate storage shed being demolished.
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Environment

Environmental Management System

During 2012-13 the Port’s Environmental Management 
System (EMS) was updated to reflect changes in Port 
activities and to improve its effectiveness in dealing with 
increasingly comprehensive and rigorous environmental 
controls and legislation. The EMS now has greater focus 
on risk controls that are supported by new or amended 
operational procedures. An example of the risk controls 
introduced is the increased monitoring of the product quality 
for both sulphur and iron ore to reduce the likelihood of 
emissions during handling operations.

Statutory Compliance

EPSL continues to achieve environmental compliance with its 
Operating Licence and other commitments that extend across 
numerous legislative requirements. 

One licence amendment was approved by the Department of 
Environmental Regulation during 2012-13 that reduced the 
frequency of dust monitoring by High Volume Air Samplers. 
The sampling was reduced from daily to one day in six 
following the Port being able to demonstrate that nickel 
dust emissions at the Port’s border with the community had 
significantly diminished following cessation of bulk nickel 
handling operations. 

It is expected that most sampling sites, if not all, will soon 
comply with the strictest and most precautionary guidelines 
relevant to nickel. The Port now exports nickel in containers. 

Environmental Performance

The Port achieved a credible environmental performance 
during the financial year with monitoring results for dust, 
stormwater, treated wastewaters, marine sediments and noise 
indicating minimal impacts. While these results are reassuring, 
further improvements are being planned. These include: 

Developing paved roads and hardstand areas to reduce •	
the dust from the unsealed, gravel areas within the Port;
Monitoring and providing feedback to CBH on dust •	
generated by grain handling operations to assist with 
determining the efficacy of their dust reduction initiatives; 
Improving the quality of water from the Port’s oily-water •	
separating system through upgrades to the system;
Improving the quality of marine sediments in the Port •	
following the cleaning of the Port’s stormwater drains; 
Assessing the cost-benefit of increasing the capture and •	
distribution of rainwater to replace scheme water which 
is currently being used in the iron ore materials handling 
circuit to control dust;
Reducing noise emissions by fitting sound absorbing •	
treatments to screw conveyors. Further reductions in noise 
emissions may result should a trial of alternative conveyor 
alarms be successful; and
Implementing an early warning system to detect introduced •	
marine pests which is a voluntary initiative between 
the Port, Department of Transport and Department of 
Fisheries. The early warning system used by higher risk 
ports of Western Australia has proved effective for the early 
detection of pest species. 

Operations Continued

Below: Environmental Technician checking monitoring equipment.
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Maintenance

Effective Planning

The Port’s maintenance task grew considerably during the 
year as a result of increasing iron ore and container trade. 
This growth has placed significant demands on the Port to 
maintain its infrastructure and reinforced the need for effective 
planning and a well-developed work scheduling process. 

A “Safety and Preventative Maintenance Improvement 
Program” was launched which delivered the following 
modules:

Safety Management, Take 5, and Job Safety Analysis •	
training;
Improved Maintenance Management Process;•	
Shutdown Management; •	
Maintenance Shutdown Scheduling;•	
Maintenance Performance Measurement and Reporting;•	
Asset Management;•	
Inventory Management; and •	
Work Flow Management.•	

Labour Resources

The Maintenance Department’s labour resources were also 
reviewed, and an additional eight positions were created 
to meet the increased work demand. The additional labour 
is adequate for the foreseeable future. The use of external 
contractors with specialist skills is crucial to the Port’s ability 
to satisfactorily maintain its plant and equipment in a safe and 
reliable manner.

Critical Spares Audit

As part of an initiative to ensure the Port’s plant and 
equipment can deliver industry standard levels of availability, 
a critical spares audit and procurement process was 
implemented to service the container crane. The spares 
were ordered during the financial year with 80 percent of the 
electrical spares being delivered. Mechanical spares were 
ordered from the crane manufacturer, ZPMC in China. Many 
of the parts required manufacture and will arrive in 2014. 
The critical spares inventory will assist the Port to reduce 
the potential downtime of the crane arising from parts or 
equipment failure.

Above: Berthing a container carrying vessel.
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Outcome

To provide efficient and reliable services that meet the needs 
of Port users.

Effectiveness

Time at berth

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

65.0 Hours 70.7 65.3 54.0 53.3

This is the average period of time from the first line ashore to 
the last line off when departing from the Port. The lower this 
figure the faster vessels are loaded and the more effective is 
the use of wharf space. The increase in time at the berth in 
2012–13 is due to an increase in loading / discharging cargo 
from larger container and sulphur vessels.

Total time

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

85.0 Hours 116.9 133.4 77.9 72.99

This is the average time elapsed from the arrival of a ship at 
the Port boundary to departure from the Port. This indicator 
has improved mainly due to operational efficiency gains and 

better berth two occupancy rates following the introduction 
of larger container vessels that visit the Port less frequently to 
exchange cargo.

Efficiency

Cargo handled per time in Port

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

650.0 Tonnes 581.8 431.7 788.2 764.3

This is the average cargo handled for total time from Port 
arrival to departure. The increase reflects improved operational 
efficiency on berth two and greater volumes of iron ore 
throughput.

Cargo handled per hour at berth

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

1100.0 Tonnes 1022.2 882.1 1136.8 1046.7

This is the average cargo handled per ship hour at berth. 
The higher this figure the more productive are cargo 
handling operations. Iron ore expansion and improved 
operational efficiencies on berth two have contributed to this 
improvement.

Performance Indicators

Below: A grain vessel about to berth.
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Outcome

To provide and maintain Port facilities such as wharves and 
associated infrastructure that will meet user needs.

Effectiveness

Berth occupancy

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

50.0 Percent 51.7 50.7 37.2 40.9

Average berth occupancy measures the time ships are 
actually alongside the berth as a percentage of the total time 
available. Time alongside increased marginally due to growth 
in trade volume and benefitted from an increase in average 
vessel size.

Time awaiting berth

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

25.0 Hours 53.5 68.1 23.9 19.7

This is the time from arrival at the Port boundary to the first 
line ashore. This is an indicator of berth congestion which 
improved considerably during the year. Other factors causing 
ships to wait at anchor can include, waiting for letters of credit 
for cargo and ships not choosing to work.

Average ship alongside time

Cargo 2013 2012 2011 2010

Petroleum 35.8 35.8 31.4 24.9 Hours

Fertiliser 51.3 58.9 58.3 44.3 Hours

Grain 53.8 49.7 49.8 52.9 Hours

Nickel 0.0 85.9 31.4 58.4 Hours

Iron Ore 72.5 70.5 67.1 60.4 Hours

Sulphur 189.3 198.2 0.0 99.3 Hours

Containers 79.1 68.5 50.5 43.0 Hours

The period of time alongside for each of the cargoes is 
dependent on the nature of the cargo, cargo size, vessel 
size and equipment to load or discharge the cargo and in 
some instances whether the vessel needs to be fumigated or 
cleaned out to load grain. The lower these figures the more 
effective are cargo handling operations.

Efficiency

Total expenditure per tonne of cargo

This is all expenditure items divided by the total trade.

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

$4.00 $4.75 $4.81 $3.82 $3.78

A reduction in this number equates to less expenditure per 
tonne of cargo. 2012 and 2013 figures include impairment 
charges.

Total costs per ship visit

This is the total expenditure divided by the number of ship 
calls.

Target 2013 2012 2011 2010

$215,814 $343,523 $277,221 $234,541 $210,872

An increase in this figure indicates either increased 
expenditure or reduced vessel visits. 2012 and 2013 figures 
include impairment charges.

Outcome

To promote the development of trade through the Port.

Effectiveness

Total trade comparison

 
Year

% change on 
previous year

 
Volume-Tonnes

2013 +18.1% 13,875,044

2012 +5.7% 11,751,167

2011 -1.3% 11,120,302

2010 +13.2% 11,266,319

2009 +0.2% 9,948,846

2008 -0.2% 9,930,283

2007 +19.7% 9,949,729

2006 +6.9% 8,309,163

2005 +6.5% 7,774,123

2004 +21.4% 7,297,131

2003 -2.8% 6,009,535

Containers

Year TEU’s In TEU’s Out Total

2013 16,290 16,431 32,721

2012 14,210 12,944 27,154

2011 6,255 7,930 14,185

2010 3,395 2,085 5,480

2009 1,565 1,445 3,010

2008 1,607 2,071 3,678

Safety Indicator

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Number of significant 
incidents

2 2 1 nil nil

The Port recorded two significant incidents during the year. 
Significant incidents are defined as those causing damage 
in excess of $60,000 to the Port’s assets or personal injury 
requiring hospitalisation or fatal accidents.
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New and Potential New Business

Sirius Resources

Sirius Resources approached EPSL regarding the future 
export of sulphide nickel and copper concentrate through 
Esperance. Sirius announced the discovery of nickel deposits 
in July 2012 and has since returned promising drilling results 
from their Nova-Bollinger tenements north of the Eyre 
Highway, 100 kilometres east of Norseman.

The product may be trucked in containers and exported 
across berth two either directly in containers or via a “rotainer” 
system. Sirius anticipates that the bankable feasibility 
study will commence in 2013 with production potentially 
commencing in 2016.

Blue Gum Logs

Defence Procurement Pty Ltd, a company that has interests 
in east coast plantation exports, is in preliminary discussions 
with EPSL regarding a proposal to export approximately 
220,000 tonnes of logs per year across berth two, for a period 
of between three and five years. Defence Procurement has 
engaged the services of a ship loading and logistics manager 
and has had discussions with other local service providers. 
There are approximately 50,000 hectares of blue gum 
plantations within 100 kilometres of the Esperance Port, and 

such a trade would effectively revive the stagnant blue gum 
farming industry in the region. EPSL remains in discussions 
with the company and this potential trade will be subject to 
acceptable safety, environmental and logistics planning.

Fuel Ships

EPSL has commenced preliminary design for a fuel discharge 
facility to be located on berth one. This new fuel line is 
intended to supplement the existing fuel line facility on berth 
two in an effort to reduce congestion on this berth. The 
berth two fuel line will be kept in operation and used when 
berth one is unavailable. This new facility has the potential 
to increase berthing capacity on berth two by about eight 
percent, and reduce the fuel supply security risk for farming 
and mining communities within the Goldfields Esperance 
Region. EPSL is progressing commercial agreements with 
proponents to facilitate construction works, which are 
expected to commence in 2014.

New Product Enquiries

Numerous other trade enquiries were received during the 
year, ranging from woodchips to cold meat exports and liquid 
fertiliser imports. A small amount of liquid fertiliser has been 
imported through the Port. EPSL continues to take a strategic 
and planned approach to managing all new trade enquiries.

Business Development

Below: Pontresina, a dedicated containership, is a regular visitor to 

Esperance Port.
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Existing Clients

Xstrata

During November 2012, a trial was conducted at the Port of 
Geraldton for the bulk loading of Xstrata nickel product using 
a “rotainer” system. EPSL expects Xstrata to continue to 
export through Geraldton and it is considered unlikely that the 
company will resume trading through Esperance.

Cliffs

Cliffs Natural Resources remains EPSL’s largest client. Last 
financial year the company exported more than 11 million 
tonnes of iron ore through Esperance.

Norilsk

Russian company Norilsk Nickel restarted their Lake Johnston 
operation in mid-2011. However, as nickel prices decreased 
in the second half of 2012, Norilsk again ceased operations 
and put the mine up for sale in January 2013. Any resumption 
of trade from Lake Johnston now depends on the sale of the 
operation and possibly a substantial and lasting recovery in 
the nickel price.

Pricing

General Port Charges

A 4.75 percent general price increase to vessel and wharfage 
charges was approved by the EPSL Board at the June 
2012 Board meeting and the charges became effective on 1 
August 2012. An increase of 49 percent for the Port’s pilotage 
charges was gazetted during the year and introduced in early 
2013. The increase in pilotage charges was necessary to 
eliminate the substantial loss that the Port had been making 
on providing this service in the past. Notwithstanding this 
increase, EPSL pilotage services remain competitively priced 
when benchmarked against other ports offering equivalent 
services.

Return on assets

In line with a current Ministerial Directive, EPSL continues 
to target a long-term rate of return of between six and 
eight percent of its asset base in its current and long-term 
pricing policies. EPSL has not achieved the targeted return 
in the current year due to a number of issues including 
the impairment of the nickel concentrate circuit, abnormal 
expenses relating to the current Multi User Iron Ore Facility 
planning process, and legacy stevedoring contract issues 
that remain outstanding. EPSL is taking action to resolve the 
contract issues, and expects to achieve a return in line with 
Government targets within the next two years.

Above: Loading iron ore on berth three.
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Human Resources

Employee Numbers and Turnover

To meet the demands of Port growth, EPSL’s employee 
numbers increased from 140 to 149 during 2012-13. 
Operations, Maintenance, Information Technology and 
Commercial Departments all benefited from increased 
resources. Employee turnover during the financial year was 
stable at 6.7 percent.

Workforce Profile, 2012 – 2013

Average age 44 years

Average length of service 8.26 years

%  Females 11.64

%  Males 88.36

%  Indigenous Australians 2.85

%  Employees with Disabilities 12.86

Training

EPSL continued to demonstrate a strong commitment to 
training with the total number of training hours increasing 
by 17 percent to 3067. The rise in training hours can be 
attributed to new plant and equipment purchases, changes 
to regulations, retraining for essential tasks and employee 
growth.

Compliance Training

All EPSL employees completed online Safetrac compliance 
training during the year. The training was delivered 
successfully within the timeframe of 12 weeks.

The training comprised a suite of subjects including Bribery 
and Corruption, Competition and Consumer Law, Privacy 
Law, OH&S and Equal Opportunity. The majority of employees 
were required to complete subjects relating to OH&S and 
Equal Opportunity, and those in the relevant positions 
completed the other subjects.

Developing Our People

The Port is committed to developing its people, and 
consequently has created personal development plans for a 
number of employees. External development courses have 
included The New Manager, Authentic Leadership, Safety 
Leadership and Psychometric Assessment.

Industrial Relations

The Pilots and Administration Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreements were finalised during 2012. Negotiations for the 
EPSL/MUA Enterprise Agreement which expires in December 
2013 have commenced. A communications program has 
been launched to brief MUA members about the progress of 
negotiations in a timely and regular manner.

Human Resources & OHS

Below: Esperance Port employees.
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EPSL Structure
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Occupational Health and Safety

Safety Charter

EPSL continues to develop its Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System. During 2012-13 the “Safety First” 
Charter was launched as an integral part of the 2010-2015 
OH&S Strategic Plan. 

The Charter is communicated with all personnel including 
sub-contractors and visitors through the induction process, 
toolbox meetings and is displayed on noticeboards 
throughout EPSL buildings.

Sitting behind the charter is a complete process of continual 
improvement which includes management systems, education 
and training, safety ownership at all levels of the business and 
communication.

Incident Management System

EPSL purchased and has commenced the roll out of the 
INX Management System (InControl) to manage, track and 
report on Occupational Health and Safety performance. 
The InControl module works with incident reporting and 
management (including Near Miss), hazard reporting and 
management, auditing, opportunities for improvement and 
inspections.

Occupational Health and Safety Improvement Plan

Education and Training continues to be a strong focus at 
EPSL. Training is delivered in the most appropriate format 
for the student and where required, an experienced OHS 
Department member is able to develop and deliver formalised 
training. Education and Training continues on an informal 
basis through the daily interaction, conversation and support 
of all personnel on site.

EPSL recognises and encourages the concept that 
Occupational Health and Safety belongs to everyone. This gives 
all employees the ability to not only recognise hazards but also 
to report and control them as well as have input into how they 
are best managed. The EPSL “Safety First” Charter supports 
the premise that safety does not start and finish at the gate but 
also continues at home and in the community.

With the increase in activity over the 2012–2013 year, EPSL 
continues to look forward with Occupational Health and Safety 
to maintain its safety systems and a safe work place. There 
is a strong focus on auditing – both internally and externally 
– to give a clear direction going forward and ensure that 
Occupational Health and Safety remains our primary focus.

Communication continues to be the cornerstone of 
Occupational Health and Safety with the implementation of 
formalised communication structures and templates. This 
enables safety messages to be delivered consistently.

Human Resources & OHS Continued

Below: Port employee at work.
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Statistics

Measure
Actual results Results against target

2011–12 2012–13 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0

Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate

3.70 3.52 0 or 10% reduction
(actual target can be stated)

4.86% reduction

Lost time injury and/or disease 
severity rate

20 2.40 0 or 10% reduction
(actual target can be stated)

Decrease in number of lost 
time injuries and time lost

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work:
(i) within 13 weeks
(ii) within 26 weeks

 

80%
80%

 

100%
100%

 

Actual result to be stated.
Greater than or equal to 80%.

 

All workers returned to work 
within the required time frames.

2011–12 2012–13 Comment on result

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 21.88 14.30 15% improvement on previous financial year

Lost Time Injury Duration Rate 50.80 30.20 40.55% decline on previous financial year

Occurrences reported to Department of Minerals 
and Petroleum

5 3 40% decrease on 2011–2012 year

Improvement Notices received 9 11 22% increase on 2011–2012 year

Prohibition Notices received 0 4 Increase on 2011–2012 year

Site Safety Committee

Site Safety Committee Meetings continue to operate as a 
regular forum for Health and Safety Representatives, and 
provide the Occupational Health and Safety Department 
the opportunity to table and feedback information to the 
workforce.

Safety Steering Committee meetings with senior ESPL 
Executives drive the direction of safety and report to the 
Board’s Safety Steering Committee.

The Occupational Health and Safety Department is committed 
to providing a safe work place for all employees, contractors 
and visitors to the Esperance Port in the coming year, which 
will be achieved through the strong safety systems and culture 
on site.

Above: Port employees at work.
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Community Activities

During 2012-13, EPSL engaged with the community, its 
customers, Port service providers and shipping agents to 
keep these parties informed about current and future activities 
and to maintain lines of communication.

The Port Consultative Committee (PCC), which was formed in 
2001 to act as a conduit for the flow of information between 
the Port and the community, was kept abreast about a 
range of environmental initiatives, monitoring results, and 
proposed Port works such as the Multi User Iron Ore Facility, 
maintenance dredging of harbour waters and the Hughes 
Road and internal rail network upgrades.

The membership of the PCC comprises a wide range of 
local people representing local and State Government 
agencies, industry, tourism, local Members of Parliament and 
environmental groups.

Also during the year EPSL held separate meetings with its 
customers, service providers and shipping agents to enable 
discussion on topics relevant to these diverse groups. A large 
number of current and potentially new customers attended 
the first customers’ meeting that was held in Perth in August 
2012.

The meeting was told of the challenges facing the Port 
in relation to legacy issues arising from the export of lead 
through Esperance and the need to upgrade infrastructure 
to meet customer demands. The Port indicated that it was 
seeking government support to fund critical works such as 
maintenance dredging, sealing of roads, berth maintenance 
and rail and road upgrades.

Customers were advised of recent changes to the Port’s 
management team who are focusing on improving efficiencies 
and delivering services that are comparable to other Western 
Australian ports. The proposed merger of the Esperance Port 
with Albany and Bunbury ports was also discussed as was 
the proposed Multi User Iron Ore Facility.

Similar meetings were held with the Port’s service providers 
and shipping agents during the year. At each meeting the Port 
provided information relevant to each group and discussed 
a range of common issues. The Port made a commitment to 
maintain a dialogue with each group and provide information 
on matters of particular interest.

Sponsorship and Donations

EPSL’s Sponsorship and Donations Policy aims to improve 
relations with the local community, provide support to local 
businesses through its support of the Esperance Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, and support projects and initiatives 
that benefit the wider community. During 2012-13, the Port 
provided $59,842 in sponsorship and donations to local 
organisations.

The main benefactor this year was the Esperance Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry who received a total of $11,347 
for a number of initiatives, including EPSL taking up a silver 
sponsorship of the Chamber, and providing funds for the 
Chamber’s annual Business Awards and the annual Over 
the Horizon Forum that looks at current and potential major 
business and industry developments in the Esperance area. 
EPSL has been a member of the ECCI for many years and 
has provided financial and other support to maintain a viable 
local Chamber.

The Port continued to support the Esperance Apex Club 
which undertakes weekly tours of the Port for local residents 
and visitors to Esperance. This year’s funding totalled 
$10,920. The Port and Apex has a relationship that spans 
more than 10 years.

Sporting clubs in Esperance received more than $16,000 
during the year, which included $5000 for the Clontarf 
Foundation which runs the South East Football Academy 
based at the Esperance Senior High School. Esperance Port 
has been a major sponsor of the Academy since its inception 

Corporate Relations

Below: Esperance Senior High School 

year nine students visited the Port.
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in 2004. Other sporting organisations to receive significant 
funding included the Esperance Cricket Association and 
Esperance Football Association.

Local arts groups received a total of $9785, with the 
biennial Festival of the Wind receiving $5000 and the annual 
Music Festival and Community Arts’ annual art exhibition 
each receiving $1000. Schools also benefitted from the 
sponsorship and donations program receiving a total of $3890 
for various initiatives, including $2000 for the Wongutha 
CAPS School to enable students to participate in outdoor 
recreational work activities.

More than $30,000 was provided to 14 other diverse 
community organisations, including the RFDS, Bush Fire 
Brigades, Esperance Aged Care Facility and Bay of Isles 
Outreach, all of which provide valuable community services in 
the town.

Apart from its Sponsorships and Donations under the terms 
of its Policy, EPSL also supports the local Seafarers Centre. 
In 2012-13 the Port provided $49,200 to the organisation to 
transport visiting seamen into and out of the Port while their 
vessel was at berth.

Education Program

The joint education program between the Esperance Port 
and Esperance Senior High School continued in 2012-
13 with four Year Nine Society and Environment classes 
participating. Port personnel talked to the students about a 
diverse range of topics, ranging from the history of the Port; 
economic benefits of the Port to the town, region and State; 
employment opportunities; safety initiatives and environmental 
management.

The classes visited the Port and inspected current activities 
such as the exchange of containers that take nickel products 
to overseas markets, the loading of a cape-sized iron ore 
vessel and sulphur storage facilities.

Of particular interest were the marine operations, including 
pilotage and tug operations, the sources of and markets for 
products exported from Esperance, and the Port’s OHS and 
employee training initiatives. Environmental monitoring and 
what happens to results was also a topic of interest to the 
students.

Port Visitors

EPSL continues to foster good relations with industry, service 
groups, current and potential new customers and schools by 
accommodating requests for Port visits, tours, inspections 
and excursions.

Current mining clients were regular visitors during 2012-13, 
inspecting sulphur and container handling operations on 
berth two and the outloading of iron ore and sulphur from the 
storage sheds. Potential new iron ore exporting companies 
also took the opportunity to inspect the operations.

A number of personnel from State Government Departments 
and Agencies, including Landcorp, Environment and 
Conservation, Petroleum and Mines, Regional Development 
and Lands and Commerce also visited the Port as did 
delegates to the annual Over the Horizon Forum conducted 
by the Esperance Chamber of Commerce and Industry. 
Chamber members are also provided with the opportunity to 
inspect the Port annually.

The Governor of Western Australian, His Excellency Malcolm 
McCusker and Mrs McCusker also toured the Port.

Rotary Exchange students from Brazil as well as a group of 
mining executives from a number of African countries also 
visited the Port as part of a University of Western Australia 
initiative.

Excursions for local primary and high school students 
included a visit to the Port by classes from Cascades Primary 
School, Star of the Sea Primary School and Eastern Goldfields 
High School.

Community Involvement

EPSL continues to keep local organisations and the 
community aware of what is happening at the Port through 
community and organisational briefings.

During the year Port executives spoke to the Esperance Shire 
Council on a number of occasions and gave briefings to the 
Goldfields Esperance Development Commission Board, the 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry executive, local Rotary 
clubs and Tourism officials.

Above: Star of the Sea Primary School 

students had a boat tour of Port waters.
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Directors’ Report
The Board of Directors of the Esperance Port Authority trading 
as Esperance Ports Sea & Land (the Authority) has pleasure 
in submitting its report for the financial year ended 30 June 
2013.

1. Directors

The Directors of the Authority during the whole of the 2012–
13 financial year and up to the date of this report were:

R. McKinnon 
FCPA, FCIS

Appointed October 2010  

P. Chalmer 
B.Sc (Hons.), Ph.D

Appointed November 2007 

K. Finlayson 
JP CitWA

Appointed March 2009 

T. Shanahan 
LLB PSM

Appointed March 2009

K. Horne Appointed January 2012

2. Directors’ Meetings

The number of Directors’ meetings and number of meetings 
attended by each of the Directors of the Authority during the 
financial year are:

Director
Maximum num-
ber of meetings

Number 
attended

R. McKinnon 13 13

T. Shanahan 13 13

P. Chalmer 13 13

K. Finlayson 13 12

K. Horne 13 11

3. Principal Activities

During the year the principal activities of the Port consisted of:

Planning for future development;•	
Promoting and facilitating trade;•	
Maintaining existing and providing new infrastructure when •	
required;
Providing services, power supply and labour as required for •	
stevedoring, pilotage, mooring and maintenance activities; 
and
Managing the environment of the Port.•	

There were no significant changes in the nature of activities of 
the Authority during the year.

4. Dividends

The operating loss incurred has prevented the Authority 
from declaring a dividend for 2012–13. Improved cashflow, 
however, has enabled the Authority to pay outstanding 

dividends totalling $3.238 million relating to the 2005–06, 
2006–07, 2007–08 and 2010–11 financial years.

5. Operating and financial review

Review of operations

Comments on the operations and the results of those 
operations are set out below:

2013 2012

Total trade (tonnes) 13,875,044 11,751,167

$’000 $’000

Revenue from cargo 9,626 8,649

Revenue from vessels 16,002 13,117

Revenue from port services 34,431 26,903

Infrastructure revenue 2,780 2,591

Other revenue and income 6,386 6,625

Total revenue and income 69,225 57,885

Less expenditure 70,612 58,922

Operating loss before tax (1,387) (1,037)

Income tax expense 918 (762)

Operating loss after tax (469) (1,799)

Commentary on operating results

Operating loss after tax is primarily as a result of abnormal 
items relating to asset impairments and feasibility expenditure 
being incurred on the Multi User Iron Ore Facility (MUIOF) 
Project.

Excluding abnormal items the underlying operating result was 
sound and a significant improvement on the previous year. 
Revenue was up 20 percent driven primarily by growth in iron 
ore and container trade.

Expenditure of $70.612 million included asset impairments 
and write downs of $3.983 million and MUIOF expenditure of 
$4.65 million which is expected to be recovered in the future.  

6. Significant Changes in the State of 

Affairs

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant 
changes in the State of Affairs of the Authority that occurred 
during the financial year under review.

7. Events Subsequent to Reporting Date

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion 
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of the Directors of the Authority, to affect significantly the 
operations of the Authority, the results of those operations, or 
the state of affairs of the Authority, in future financial years.

8. Likely Developments

The Authority expects that trade volumes for 2013-14 financial 
year will be broadly in line with the past year.

Significant feasibility expenditure will continue to be incurred 
in relation to the potential Multi User Iron Ore Facility project 
which may result in a Port expansion in future years.

The amalgamation of the Esperance Port Authority into 
the Southern Ports Authority (SPA) is also expected to be 
progressed in the near future.

9. Directors’ Emoluments

In accordance with Section 13(c)(i) of Schedule 5 of the Port 
Authorities Act 1999, the nature and amount of each major 
element of remuneration of each Director of the Authority, 
each of the three named executives who received the highest 
remuneration and other key management personnel of the 
Authority are:

Non-Executive Directors of Esperance Port Authority

Name
Director’s 

Fee $
Superan-
nuation $

Total 
$

R. McKinnon 
Chairman

52,125 5,062 57,187

T. Shanahan 27,125 2,441 29,566

P. Chalmer 16,500 1,485 17,985

K. Finlayson 16,500 1,485 17,985

K.Horne 16,500 1,485 17,985

Senior Executives of Esperance Port Authority

 
Name

Base 
Salary 
$

Motor 
Vehicle 
$

 
Bonus 
$

Super-
annua-
tion $

 
Total 
$

S.P.Flanagan (Chief 

Executive Officer)

291,513 - - 26,337 317,850

R.H. Lovell (Harbour 

Master)

222,664 6,796 - 19,988 249,448

S.R.Dickason (Deputy 

Harbour Master)

186,238 10,735 - 16,819 213,792

10. Environmental Regulation

The Authority’s operations are subject to regulation under 
both Commonwealth and State environmental legislation 
applicable to any Australian commercial entity. Under the Port 
Authorities Act 1999, the Authority is also required to “protect 
the environment of the Port and minimise the impact of Port 
activities on that environment”.

11. Environmental Management

The Authority is committed to demonstrating that it is an 
environmentally responsible organisation and this commitment 
is reflected in its values and corporate priorities. In order to 
comply with environmental responsibilities and objectives, the 
Authority maintains an environmental management system to 
the international standard ISO14001. 

12. Rounding off 

Amounts have been rounded off to the nearest thousand 
dollars in the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements.

This report is made with a resolution of the Directors.

R. McKinnon
Chairman
Esperance
13 September 2013

Below: Esperance Port Authority Board Directors, from left: 

Kim Horne, Tim Shanahan, Bob McKinnon, Kathy Finlayson 

and Phil Chalmer.

27



Financial Statements
Contents

Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income 29

Statement of Financial Position 30

Statement of Changes in Equity 31

Statement of Cash Flows 31

Notes to the Financial Statements 32
1. Basis of preparation .................................................................................32
2. Summary of significant accounting policies .............................32
3. Change in accounting policy ..............................................................38
4. Expenses by nature ..................................................................................38
5. Revenue ...........................................................................................................38
6. Other income ................................................................................................38
7. Depreciation and amortisation expense .....................................39
8. Employee benefits expense ................................................................39
9. Finance costs ...............................................................................................39
10. Other expenses ...........................................................................................40
11. Income tax expense .................................................................................40
12. Dividends .........................................................................................................42
13. Cash and cash equivalents .................................................................42
14. Trade and other receivables ...............................................................42
15. Inventories ......................................................................................................43
16. Property, plant and equipment .........................................................43
17. Intangible assets .........................................................................................46
18. Trade and other payables ....................................................................46
19. Interest bearing borrowings ................................................................47
20. Provisions ........................................................................................................49
21. Equity .................................................................................................................51
22. Reconciliation of cash flows 

from operating activities ..........................................................................52
23. Financial instruments ...............................................................................52
24. Commitments ...............................................................................................57
25. Remuneration of auditor .......................................................................58
26. Related parties .............................................................................................58
27. Contingent liabilities..................................................................................58
28. Subsequent events ...................................................................................58

Directors’ Declaration 59

Auditor’s Declaration 60

Trade, 2003–2013

����
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

��
��
��
��
��

���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

�������
��������������������

����

Gross tonnage, 2003–2013

����
�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

����

�������������

��������������������

��

Number of trade vessels, 2003–2013

����
�

���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

����
��

��

��

��

���

���

���

���

���

���
�����������������

28



Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Revenue 5 67,415 56,373

Other income 6 1,810 1,512

Expenses

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 (5,736) (6,073)

Employee benefits 8 (17,673) (15,764)

General administration 4 (9,507) (3,127)

Materials, supplies and fuel 4 (5,628) (5,341)

Contract services (14,337) (10,772)

Power and water (6,751) (5,959)

Insurance (908) (598)

Government charges (1,263) (1,190)

Finance costs 9 (4,774) (5,104)

Other expenses 10 (4,035) (4,993)

Loss before income tax (1,387) (1,036)

Income tax 11 918 (762)

Loss for the year (469) (1,798)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive loss for the year (469) (1,798)

The notes on pages 32 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13 8,597 8,000

Trade and other receivables 14 13,406 15,573

Inventories 15 1,727 2,664

Total current assets 23,730 26,237

Non-Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 14 31,804 36,935

Deferred tax assets 11 8,326 8,858

Inventories 15 1,694 -

Property, plant and equipment 16 51,551 58,238

Intangible assets 17 420 347

Total non-current assets 93,795 104,378

TOTAL ASSETS 117,525 130,615

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 5,208 4,007

Interest bearing borrowings 19 7,494 10,089

Provisions 20 4,163 6,620

Total current liabilities 16,865 20,716

Non-Current Liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings 19 59,139 66,633

Deferred tax liabilities 11 12,683 14,133

Provisions 20 893 718

Total non-current liabilities 72,715 81,484

TOTAL LIABILITIES 89,580 102,200

NET ASSETS 27,946 28,415

EQUITY

Contributed equity 21 3,609 3,609

Retained earnings 21 24,337 24,806

TOTAL EQUITY 27,946 28,415

The notes on pages 32 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note Contributed 
equity

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

$’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2011 2,209 28,101 30,310

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (1,798) (1,798)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions from owners 1,400 - 1,400

Distributions to owners - (1,497) (1,497)

Balance at 30 June 2012 3,609 24,806 28,415

Balance at 1 July 2012 22 3,609 24,806 28,415

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (469) (469)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Contributions from owners - - -

Distributions to owners - - -

Balance at 30 June 2013 3,609 24,337 27,946

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 71,653 59,447

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (57,922) (48,835)

Cash generated from operations 13,731 10,612

Interest paid (4,774) (5,075)

Net cash from operating activities 22 8,957 5,537

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,042 4,520

Payments for property, plant and equipment (3,312) (1,442)

Net cash from investing activities 1,730 3,078

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (10,089) (8,985)

Proceeds from government  - 1,400

Net cash used in financing activities (10,089) (7,585)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 597 1,030

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 8,000 6,970

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year. 13 8,597 8,000

The notes on pages 32 to 58 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

Esperance Port Authority (the Authority) is a not-for-profit 
entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) 
(including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the financial 
reporting provisions of the Port Authorities Act 1999.

The financial statements were authorised for issue on  
13 September 2013 by the Board of Directors of Esperance 
Port Authority.

(b)  Presentation of the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income

The Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income classification of expenses by nature is considered 
to provide more relevant and reliable information than 
classification by function due to the nature of the Authority’s 
operations.

The Directors have concluded that the financial statements 
present fairly the Authority’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows and that it has complied with 
applicable standards and interpretations, except that it 
has departed from AASB 101, para 99, to achieve a fair 
presentation.(a)

(c) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars 
which is the Authority’s functional currency. All financial 
information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded 
to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise 
stated.

(e) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty 
and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements are:

Operating lease commitments – as lessor

The Authority has entered into commercial property leases 
on some of its land and buildings and has determined that 
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
these land and buildings and has thus classified the leases as 
operating leases.

Defined benefit plans

Various actuarial assumptions are required when determining 
the Authority’s superannuation obligations. These 
assumptions and the related carrying amounts are discussed 
in note 20(d).

2. Summary of significant accounting 

policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements unless otherwise stated.

(a) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows:

(i) Rendering of services

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
on completion of the delivery of the service to the customer.

(ii) Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues using the effective 
interest method [see note 2(b)].

(iii) Rental income

Rental income is recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted are 
recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

(b) Finance income and expenses

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested 
and interest receivable under finance leases. Interest income 
is recognised as it accrues in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income, using the effective interest 
method. The interest receivable component of finance lease 
receivables is also recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income using the effective 
interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and 
finance charges payable under finance leases. All borrowing 
costs are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income using the effective interest 
method. The interest expense component of finance lease 
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payments is also recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income using the effective interest 
method.

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period 
in which they are incurred except where they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset in which case they are capitalised as 
part of the cost of the asset, in accordance with AASB 123 
Borrowing Costs.

In determining the amount of borrowing costs to be 
capitalised during the financial year, investment revenue 
earned directly relating to the borrowings, is deducted from 
the borrowing costs incurred.

(c) Income tax

The Authority operates within the National Tax Equivalent 
Regime (“NTER”) whereby an equivalent amount in respect 
of income tax is payable to the State Government. The 
calculation of the liability in respect of income tax is governed 
by NTER guidelines and directions approved by Government.

As a consequence of participation in the NTER, the Authority 
is required to comply with AASB 112 Income Taxes.

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax expense is recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the 
taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for 
temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority 
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax 
credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(d) Receivables

(i) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the original 
invoice amounts less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts. Receivables are generally settled within 30 days 
except for property rentals, which are governed by individual 
lease agreements.

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect 
its debts.

(ii) Lease receivables

A finance lease receivable is recognised for leases of property, 
plant and equipment which effectively transfers to the 
lessee substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to 
legal ownership of the leased asset. The lease receivable is 
initially recognised as the amount of the present value of the 
minimum lease payments receivable at the reporting date 
plus the present value of any unguaranteed residual value 
expected to accrue at the end of the lease term.

Finance lease payments are allocated between interest 
revenue and reduction of the lease receivable over the term of 
the lease in order to reflect a constant periodic rate of return 
on the net investment outstanding in respect of the lease with 
interest revenue calculated using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease and recognised directly in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

(e) Inventories

Inventories consist of stores which are measured at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

The Authority has a general policy of expensing at the time 
of purchase all individual assets costing $1,000 or less or 
with a useful life of less than three (3) years. The materiality 
of the item purchased is also taken into consideration when 
adopting this policy. Regardless of cost, physical control over 
all the Authority’s assets is maintained.

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self constructed assets 
includes the following:

the cost of materials and direct labour,•	
any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset •	
to a working condition for its intended use,
when the Authority has an obligation to remove the •	
asset or restore the site, an estimate of the cost of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the 
site on which they are located, and
capitalised borrowing costs.•	
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2. Summary of significant accounting 

policies (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the 
related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gains or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item 
and is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is 
probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the Authority. The carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised. Ongoing repairs and 
maintenance is expensed as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis in profit or loss over the estimated useful 
lives of each component. Leased assets are depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is 
reasonably certain that the Authority will obtain ownership by 
the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from 
the date that they are installed and are ready for use, or in 
respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the 
asset is completed and ready for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
years of significants items of property, plant and equipment 
are as follows:

Channels   20 –  80  years•	
Breakwater   50  years•	
Buildings and ancillaries  5 –  50  years•	
Berths  20 –  25  years•	
Oil pipeline   20  years•	
Electrical services  5 –  40  years•	
Office equipment  2 –  15  years•	
Motor vehicles  4 –  7  years•	
Plant and equipment  2 –  20  years•	
Bulk loading facilities  3 –  40  years•	
Berth stabilisation and fenders  10 –  25  years•	

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(g) Intangible assets

(i) Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
as incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the 
production of new or substantially improved products and 
processes. Development expenditure is capitalised only if 

development costs can be measured reliably, the product 
or process is technically and commercially feasible, future 
economic benefits are probable, and the Authority intends to 
and has sufficient resources to complete development and 
to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes 
the cost of materials, direct labour and overhead costs that 
are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended 
use, and capitalised borrowing costs. Other development 
expenditure is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates.

(iii) Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 
treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is 
not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an 
intangible asset.

 (iv) Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they are 
available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and 
comparative years are as follows:

Computer software   2 – 5 years•	
Licenses  3 years•	

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(h) Impairment

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 
tested for any indication of impairment at each balance 
sheet date. Where there is any indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the 
Authority is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances 
where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
at each reporting date irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment.
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The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus 
assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the 
present value of future cash flows expected to be derived 
from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no 
risk of material impairment where fair value is determined 
by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is 
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for 
indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

All impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit 
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(i) Leases

Leases are classified as either finance leases or operating 
leases based on the economic substance of the lease 
agreements.

Leases in terms of which the Authority assumes substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. On initial recognition the leased asset is measured at 
an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. A finance lease 
liability of equal value is also recognised. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the 
accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets 
are not recognised on the Authority’s Statement of Financial 
Position.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are 
apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction 
of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated 
to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for by 
revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term 
of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.

(j) Financial instruments

In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Authority has 
three categories of financial instruments:

Loans and receivables•	
Held to maturity investments•	
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost•	

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

Financial Assets•	
Cash and cash equivalents•	

Trade and other receivables•	

Financial Liabilities•	
Trade and other payables•	

Interest bearing liabilities•	

WATC/Bank borrowings•	

Finance lease liabilities•	

Refer to note 23(ii) for further information on the classification 
of financial instruments.

Initial recognition and measurement is at fair value plus directly 
attributable transaction costs for assets not carried at fair 
value through profit or loss. Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables 
approximates their carrying amount because there is no 
interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is 
not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 
Gains or losses are recognised when the financial assets are 
derecognised or impaired.

(k) Payables

Payables, including trade payables, amounts payable and 
accrued expenses, are recognised for amounts to be paid 
in the future for goods and services received prior to the 
reporting date. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, 
as they are generally settled within 30 days.

(l) Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income when the liabilities are 
derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred unless they relate 
to qualifying assets.

(m) Employee benefits

The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months after the reporting date is recognised 
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rates expected to apply at the time of settlement. Annual 
and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 
months after the reporting date is measured at the present 
value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.
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2. Summary of significant accounting 

policies (continued)

(m) Employee benefits (continued)

The expected future payments are discounted to present 
value using market yields at the reporting date on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Authority 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

Associated payroll on-costs are included in the determination 
of employment on-costs provisions.

(n) Employee superannuation

The Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined 
benefit lump sum scheme, and the Superannuation and 
Family Benefits Act Scheme, a defined benefit pension 
scheme, are now closed to new members. The Authority 
is liable for superannuation benefits for past years’ service 
of members of the Superannuation and Family Benefits Act 
Scheme who elected to transfer to the GSS Scheme. The 
Authority accrues superannuation benefits to the pension 
scheme for those members who elected not to transfer from 
that scheme. Monthly contributions are also made to SERF 
to satisfy existing workforce requirements for waterside 
employees who transferred to the Authority during 1992 and 
for casual staff.

The superannuation liability for existing employees with the 
pre-transfer service incurred under the Superannuation and 
Family Benefits Act Scheme who transferred to the GSS 
Scheme is provided for at reporting date.

The Authority’s total superannuation liability has been 
actuarially assessed as at 30 June 2013.

Employees who are not members of either the Pension or 
the GSS Schemes became non contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), an accumulation 
fund until 15 April 2007. From 16 April 2007, employees 
who are not members of the Pension, GSS or WSS 
Schemes become non-contributory members of the GESB 
Superannuation Scheme (GESB Super), a taxed accumulation 
fund. The Authority makes concurrent contributions to the 
Government Employee Superannuation Board (GESB) on 
behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) 
Act 1992. These contributions extinguish the liability for 
superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESB 
Super Schemes.

Defined benefit plan

The Authority’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit 
pension plan is calculated separately by estimating the 
amount of the future benefit that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and prior periods; that 
benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the 
fair value of any plan assets is deducted. These benefits are 
unfunded.

The discount rate used is the market yield rate at the balance 
sheet date on national government bonds that have maturity 
dates approximating to the terms of the entity’s obligations. 
The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.

The superannuation expense of the defined benefit plan is 
made up of the following elements:

Current service cost;•	
Interest cost (unwinding of the discount);•	
Actuarial gains and losses; and•	
Past service cost.•	

Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plan are 
recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income.

The superannuation expense of the defined contribution plan 
is recognised as and when the contributions fall due.

(o) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which 
they are declared.

(p) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the 
Authority has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the liability.

The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

(q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial 
Position comprise cash on hand, cash at bank, at call 
deposits and term deposits due within 30 days.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flow, cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above.

(r) Goods and services tax

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
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(s) Contributed equity

The Authority receives support from the WA Government (see 
note 21). The amount received is recognised directly as a 
credit to contributed equity.

(t) New Accounting Standards for Application in 
Future Periods

The AASB has issued a number of new and amended 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting period, 
some of which are relevant to the Authority. The Authority 
has decided not to early adopt any of the new and amended 
pronouncements. The Authority’s assessment of the new and 
amended pronouncements that are relevant to the Authority 
but applicable in future reporting periods is set out below:

AASB 9: •	 Financial Instruments (December 2010) and 
AASB 2010-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010).

This Standard is mandatorily applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2013. However, AASB 2012-6 defers the application 
date of AASB 9 from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 
2015. AASB 9 introduces new requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities.

Although the Directors anticipate that the adoption of 
AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 may have an impact on the 
Authority’s financial statements, it is impracticable at this 
stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact.

AASB 13: •	 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8: 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 2013 (applicable for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013).

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance 
for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. 
AASB 13 does not change when an entity is required 
to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on how 
to determine fair value when fair value is required or 
permitted by other Standards.

These Standards are expected to result in more 
detailed fair value disclosures, but are not expected to 
significantly impact the amounts recognised in these 
financial statements.

AASB 2011-4: •	 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards to Remove Individual Key Management 
Personnel Disclosure Requirements (applicable for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013).

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures to remove the individual key 
management personnel (KMP) disclosure requirements 
by Australia specific paragraphs.

When adopted, these amendments are unlikely to have 
any significant impact on the financial statements.

AASB 119: •	 Employee Benefits (September 2011) and 
AASB 2011-10: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) 
(applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013).

This Standard introduces a number of changes to 
presentation and disclosure of a defined benefit plan. 
AASB 119 also includes changes to the criteria for 
determining when termination benefits should be 
recognised as obligation.

These amendments will have no significant impact on 
the entity.

AASB Interpretation 20: •	 Stripping Costs in the 
Production Phase of Surface Mining (applicable for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013).

This interpretation clarifies that costs of removing 
mine waste materials (overburden) to gain access to 
mineral ore deposits during the production stage of a 
mine must be capitalized as inventories under AASB 
102: Inventories if the benefits from stripping activity is 
realised in the form of inventory produced.

The entity does not operate a surface mine. Therefore, 
there will be no impact on the financial statements when 
this interpretation is first adopted.

AASB 2012-2: •	 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities (application for annual reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014).

This Standard amends the required disclosures in 
AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of 
an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect 
or potential effect of netting arrangements, including 
rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised 
financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on 
the entity’s statement of financial position.

When adopted, there will be no impact on the entity as 
the entity does not have any netting arrangements in 
place.

AASB 2012-5: •	 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-
2011 (applicable for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2013).

These amendments are a consequence of the annual 
improvement process, which provides a vehicle for 
making non-urgent but necessary amendments to 
Standards.

When these amendments are first adopted, this 
Standard is not expected to significantly impact the 
Authority’s financial statements.
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3. Change in Accounting Policy

The Authority has not changed any accounting policies during the past financial year.

4. Expenses by nature

Operating expenses are presented on the face of the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income using a 
classification based on the nature of expenses (see note 1(b)). Marine expenses include those expenses derived from water-
based activities, Port operations expenses include those expenses related to land-based support activities, whilst general 
administration expenses includes expenditure of an administrative nature.

5. Revenue

Revenue consists of the following items:

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Rendering of services

Charges on cargo 9,626 8,649

Charges on ships 14,855 12,038

Port services 35,578 26,302

Infrastructure charge 2,780 2,591

Interest revenue on bank accounts 360 220

Rentals and leases 486 666

Other operating revenue 3,730 5,907

Total revenue 67,415 56,373

6. Other income

Other income consists of the following items:

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 135 2

Sale of electricity and water 1,675 1,510

1,810 1,512
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7. Depreciation and amortisation expense

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Depreciation

Buildings and ancillaries 1,308 633

Berths one and two 275 274

Berth three and ship loader 34 34

Berth stabilisation and fenders 115 115

Breakwater 210 210

Bulk loading facilities 2,129 3,296

Channels 328 349

Electrical services 77 78

Office equipment 76 86

Oil pipeline 18 18

Plant and equipment 1,094 913

Total depreciation 5,664 6,006

Amortisation

Intangible assets 72 67

Total amortisation 72 67

Total depreciation and amortisation 5,736 6,073

8. Employee benefits expense

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 15,530 14,183

Superannuation – defined benefit plans (see note 20(e )) 1,406 1,270

Long service leave 237 139

Annual leave 268 89

Sick leave 207 55

Accumulated days off 25 28

17,673 15,764

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax are included at note 10 ‘Other expenses”. The 
employment on-costs liability is included at note 20 ‘Provisions’.

9. Finance costs

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Interest paid 4,774 5,147

Hedging gain - (43)

Finance costs expensed 4,774 5,104
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10. Other expenses

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Employee on-costs (a) 55 22

Impairment loss – Assets (b) 3,556 4,959

Loss on sale of assets 424 12

4,035 4,993

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance, payroll tax and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated 
with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 20 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation 
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employee on-costs.

(b) During the year the Mineral Concentrate Circuit was assessed as requiring further impairment.

 The carrying value of the Mineral Concentrate Circuit was written down by a further $3.557 million. This reflected 
management’s estimate of $6.5 million being the minimum amount required to be spent on the facility to enable it to be 
able to resume bulk exports and a further $0.557 million relating to capital expenditure on the Black Swan Nickel Shed 
that is being demolished. Refer note 16 for further details.

11. Income tax expense

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 918 (762)

Change in the unrecognised temporary differences - -

918 (762)

Total income tax (expense) / benefit 918 (762)
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11. Income tax expense (continued)

Reconciliation between tax expense and pre tax net profit

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

(Loss) / Profit for the period (1,387) (1,036)

Total income tax (expense) benefit 918 (762)

(Loss) / Profit including income tax (469) (1,798)

Income tax using the statutory tax rate of 30% (2012: 30%) 416 (311)

Non-deductible expenses 82 (451)

498 (762)

(Under) / over provision in prior years 420 -

Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped - -

Income tax (expense) / benefit 918 (762)

Income tax recognised directly in equity

Income tax on income and expense recognised directly in equity - -

Total income tax recognised directly in equity - -

Deferred income tax

2013 2012 2013 2012

Statement of 
Financial position

Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities

Other adjustments (11,144) (12,690)

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes - -

Finance lease receivable (current) (1,539) (1,443)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (12,683) (14,133)

Deferred tax assets

Employee benefits 1,172 938

Prepaid rental - -

Tax Losses 771 3,042

Others 6,383 4,878

Gross deferred tax assets 8,326 8,858

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (12,683) (14,133)

Net deferred tax assets / (liability) (4,357) (5,275)

Deferred tax charge 918 (762)

Current tax liabilities

The current tax liability of nil (2012: nil) represents the amount of income taxes payable in respect of current and prior financial 
periods.
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12. Dividends

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Dividends paid in the financial year 3,238 -

In accordance with Government Financial Policy, WA Ports are required to pay dividends of 65% of after tax profits. However, 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, dividends relating to the financial results for the year ended 30 June 2013 
have not been provided as they are expected to be declared by Government after balance date.

A dividend of $3.238 million in respect of the financial results for the years ended 2005-06, 2006-07, 2007-08 and 2010-11 was 
paid by 30 June 2013.

13. Cash and cash equivalents

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Bank balances 8,597 8,000

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows 8,597 8,000

The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 23(i).

14. Trade and other receivables

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Current

Receivables 8,196 10,749

GST receivable 74 -

Finance lease receivable 5,130 4,809

Prepayments 6 15

13,406 15,573

Non-current

Finance lease receivable 31,804 36,935

31,804 36,935

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of year 52,508 51,387

Amount recovered during the year 7,298 1,121

Balance at end of year 45,210 52,508

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in 
them being past due or impaired.

At 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade debtors past due but not impaired was nil.
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15. Inventories

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Current

Stores – at cost 1,727 2,664

Non-current

Stores – at cost 1,694 -

3,421 2,664

16. Property, plant and equipment

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Channels 

At cost 16,631 16,990

Accumulated depreciation (3,526) (3,642)

13,105 13,348

Land

At cost 1,282 1,282

1,282 1,282

Buildings and ancillaries

At cost 16,179 13,034

Accumulated depreciation (5,508) (4,200)

10,671 8,834

Berths one and two

At cost 6,157 6,157

Accumulated depreciation (4,616) (4,341)

1,541 1,816

Berth three and ship loader

At cost 616 590

Accumulated depreciation (356) (322)

260 268

Berth stabilisation and fenders

At cost 3,911 3,911

Accumulated depreciation (2,540) (2,425)

1,371 1,486

Breakwater

At cost 10,482 10,482

Accumulated depreciation (3,092) (2,883)

7,390 7,599

Bulk loading facilities

At cost 37,008 41,952

Accumulated depreciation (19,532) (17,671)

Accumulated impairment losses (8,515) (4,959)

8,961 19,322
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Electrical services 

At cost 1,683 1,683

Accumulated depreciation (708) (631)

975 1,052

Office equipment

At cost 908 557

Accumulated depreciation (504) (427)

404 130

Oil pipeline

At cost 360 360

Accumulated depreciation (306) (288)

54 72

Plant and equipment

At cost 11,352 8,881

Accumulated depreciation (5,815) (5,852)

5,537 3,029

Total property, plant and equipment at net book value 51,551 58,238

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are 
set out below.

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Breakwater

Carrying amount at 1 July 7,599 7,809

Depreciation for the year (210) (210)

Carrying amount at 30 June 7,390 7,599

Land

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,282 1,282

Carrying amount at 30 June 1,282 1,282

Buildings and ancillaries

Carrying amount at 1 July 8,834 9,431

Additions/Reclassification 3,145 37

Depreciation for the year (1,308) (633)

Disposals - (1)

Carrying amount at 30 June 10,671 8,834

Berths one and two

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,816 2,073

Additions - 17

Depreciation for the year (275) (274)

Carrying amount at 30 June 1,541 1,816

Berth three and ship loader

Carrying amount at 1 July 268 303

Additions 26 -

Depreciation for the year (34) (35)

Carrying amount at 30 June 260 268
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Berth stabilisation and fenders

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,486 1,602

Depreciation for the year (115) (116)

Carrying amount at 30 June 1,371 1,486

Bulk loading facilities

Carrying amount at 1 July 19,322 27,539

Additions - 37

Disposals / Reclassification (4,676) -

Depreciation for the year (2,129) (3,295)

Impairment losses (3,556) (4,959)

Carrying amount at 30 June – refer note 16 A 8,961 19,322

Channels

Carrying amount at 1 July 13,348 13,156

Additions 85 540

Depreciation for the year (328) (348)

Carrying amount at 30 June 13,105 13,348

Electrical services

Carrying amount at 1 July 1,052 1,130

Depreciation for the year (77) (78)

Carrying amount at 30 June 975 1,052

Office equipment

Carrying amount at 1 July 130 140

Additions 350 76

Depreciation for the year (76) (86)

Carrying amount at 30 June 404 130

Oil pipeline

Carrying amount at 1 July 72 90

Depreciation for the year (18) (18)

Carrying amount at 30 June 54 72

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at 1 July 3,029 3,378

Additions/Reclassification 3,812 590

Depreciation for the year (1,094) (913)

Disposals (210) (26)

Carrying amount at 30 June 5,537 3,029

Total property, plant and equipment 51,551 58,238

Notes

16 A - Bulk Loading Facilities – these facilities have not been in operation since October 2011 as the Authority does not have 
sufficient funds to undertake repairs and maintenance. Included in the impairment of these facilities are management estimates 
of $6.5 million being the minimum amount deemed necessary to re-commence the operation of these facilities (refer note 10). 

Also included in the impairment charge is the write down of the carrying value of the Black Swan Shed ($2.015 million) to nil, as 
this asset has reached the end of its economic life and is currently being demolished.
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17. Intangible assets

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Computer software

At cost 704 558

Accumulated amortisation (284) (211)

420 347

Reconciliation of carrying amounts

Computer software

Carrying amount at 1 July 347 271

Additions 145 145

Impairment losses recognised in income statement - (2)

Amortisation expense (72) (67)

Carrying amount at 30 June 420 347

18. Trade and other payables

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Current

Trade payables 4,158 2,747

GST payable - 245

Accrued expenses 1,050 1,015

5,208 4,007

The Authority’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 23(i).
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19. Interest bearing borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Authority’s interest bearing borrowings, which are measured at 
amortised cost. For more information about the Authority’s exposure to interest rate and liquidity risk, see note 23(i).

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Current liabilities

Direct borrowings 675 3,682

Special borrowings 6,819 6,407

7,494 10,089

Non-current liabilities

Direct borrowings 4,220 4,895

Special borrowings 54,919 61,738

59,139 66,633

Financing arrangements

The Authority has access to the following lines of credit:

Total facilities available:

Direct and special borrowings 91,483 78,865

91,483 78,865

Facilities utilised at reporting date:

Direct and special borrowings 66,633 76,722

66,633 76,722

Facilities not utilised at reporting date:

Direct and special borrowings 24,850 2,143

24,850 2,143

Significant terms and conditions

The Port Authority’s loans and borrowings are financed at fixed rates of interest; therefore changes in interest rates will have no 
impact on the profitability of the Port Authority.
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19. Interest bearing borrowings (continued)

Interest rate risk exposure

The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk on the interest bearing borrowings and the effective weighted average interest rate 
at year end by maturity periods is set out in the following table.

2013

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate

Fixed interest rate

 
1 year 
or less

Over 
1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 to 3 
years

Over 
3 to 4 
years

Over 
4 to 5 
years

More 
than 5 
years

 
Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest bearing borrowings:

Direct borrowings 5.11% 675 645 617 592 539 1,827 4,895

Special borrowings 6.27% 6,819 7,257 7,723 7,705 7,232 25,002 61,738

6.19% 7,494 7,902 8,340 8,297 7,771 26,829 66,633

Weighted average interest rate:

Direct borrowings 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11% 5.11%

Special borrowings 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27% 6.27%

2012

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate

Fixed interest rate

 
1 year 
or less

Over 
1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 to 3 
years

Over 
3 to 4 
years

Over 
4 to 5 
years

More 
than 5 
years

 
Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest bearing borrowings:

Direct borrowings 4.93% 3,682 675 645 617 592 2,366 8,577

Special borrowings 6.36% 6,407 6,818 7,257 7,723 7,705 32,235 68,145

6.20% 10,089 7,493 7,902 8,340 8,297 34,601 76,722

Weighted average interest rate:

Direct borrowings 4.93% 4.93% 5.52% 5.52% 5.52% 5.52% 5.52%

Special borrowings 6.36% 6.36% 6.36% 6.36% 6.36% 6.36% 6.36%
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20. Provisions

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a) 1,171 904

Long service leave (b) 702 581

Superannuation (e) 3 3

Sick leave 740 580

Liability for accumulated days off 196 171

Other provisions

Back Pay - 12

Employment on-costs (c) 200 158

General Claims Provision (d) 1,151 973

Dividend provision - 3,238

4,163 6,620

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave 623 507

Superannuation 26 26

Sick leave 181 134

Other provisions

Employment on-costs 63 51

893 718

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Within 12 months of balance date 800 700

More than 12 months after balance sheet date 371 204

1,171 904

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Within 12 months of balance date 500 400

More than 12 months after balance sheet date 825 688

1,325 1,088

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers’ compensation premiums and payroll tax. The provision is measured at the present value of expected future 
payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is included at note 10 ‘Other 
expenses’.
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20. Provisions (continued)

(d) The general claims provision is in relation to revenue being overcharged for past services rendered.

(e) Defined benefit superannuation plans

The following is a summary of the most recent financial position of the Pension Scheme and GSS Scheme related to the 
Authority calculated in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

Present value of unfunded obligations 29 29

Fair value of plan assets - -

29 29

Reconciliation of movement in the present value of the unfunded 
obligations recognised in the Statement of Financial Position

Opening balance 29 27

Current service cost - -

Interest cost 1 1

Actuarial gain on liabilities 4 5

Benefits paid (including expenses and taxes) (4) (4)

29 29

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income

Current service cost - -

Interest cost 1 1

Actual gain recognised - -

1

Historic summary

Defined benefit plan obligation 29 29

Plan assets - -

29 29

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities - -

Experience adjustments arising on plan assets - -

Principal actuarial assumptions

Discount rate 3.38 2.84

Expected future salary increases 5.00 5.50

Expected future pension increases 2.50 2.50

Anticipated return on plan assets - -

Expected contributions 4 4

Employer contributions are made to meet the cost of retirement benefit obligations as they fall due. For further details regarding 
the policy in respect of provision for retirement benefit obligations, refer to note 2(n).
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20. Provisions (continued)

Movements in provisions

Reconciliations for the carrying amounts of each class of provision, except for employee benefits are set out below:

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Retirement benefit obligations 

Carrying amount at 1 July 29 27

Provisions made during the year 5 6

Amounts utilised in the year (4) (4)

Carrying amount at 30 June 29 29

Employment on-costs provision 

Carrying amount at 1 July 209 187

Provisions made during the year 54 22

Amounts utilised in the year - -

Carrying amount at 30 June 263 209

General Claims Provision

Carrying amount at 1 July 973 -

Provisions made during the year 178 973

Amounts utilised in the year - -

Carrying amount at 30 June 1,151 973

21. Equity

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Contributed equity

Balance at the start of the year 3,609 2,209

Capital contributions - 1,400

Balance at end of year 3,609 3,609

Retained earnings

Balance at start of year 24,806 28,101

Loss for the period (1,387) (1,798)

Payment of dividends - (1,497)

Balance at end of year 23,419 24,806
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22. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

Reconciliation of loss after tax to the net cash flows from operations

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period (469) (1,798)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 5,664 6,006

Amortisation of intangible assets 72  67

Loss / (Gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 3,846 (2)

Gain on currency hedging - (43)

Revenue recognition adjustment - (1,073)

Income tax expense (918) 762

Operating profit before changes in working capital and provisions 8,195 3,919

Change in trade and other receivables 2,563 (1,121)

Change in inventories (645) (357)

Change in trade and other payables 1,126 502

Change in provisions and employee benefits (2,282) 2,594

Net cash from operating activities 8,957 5,537

23. Financial instruments

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Authority’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables, interest bearing 
borrowings, and finance leases. The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Authority’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks. 

The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its long-term debt obligations. The 
Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at fixed rates with 
varying maturities. The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates. Other than as 
detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis in the table below, the Authority has limited exposure to interest rate risk because 
it has no borrowings other than WATC borrowings and finance leases (fixed interest rate).
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Authority’s policy is to manage its finance costs using a mix of fixed and variable debt with the objective of achieving 
optimum returns whilst managing interest rate risk to avoid uncertainty and volatility in the market place.

The Authority constantly analyses its interest rate exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential renewals of 
existing positions and alternative financing structures.

At the balance sheet date, if interest rates had moved as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, the 
effect would be as follows:

Carrying 
Amount

+0.50% change (0.50%) change

Profit Equity Profit Equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,597 43 30 (43) (30)

Total Increase/(Decrease) 43 30 (43) (30)

Carrying 
Amount

+0.50% change (0.50%) change

Profit Equity Profit Equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8000 40 28 (40) (25)

Total Increase/(Decrease) 40 28 (40) (25)

Foreign currency risk 

The Port Authority is exposed to foreign currency on purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the functional 
currency of the Port Authority i.e. Australian dollars.  The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily US dollars. The Port 
Authority uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk. Where necessary the forward exchange contracts 
are rolled over at maturity.

The overall foreign exchange exposure of the Port Authority is not significant. No sensitivity analysis is made for the foreign 
currency exposure.

Interest Rate Risk

The Port Authority’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Port Authority’s long-term 
debt obligations. The Port Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) 
and are at fixed rates with varying maturities or at variable rates. The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification 
and variation in maturity dates. All other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing and are not exposed to interest 
rate risk.

For the above stated reasons, no sensitivity analysis is made for the interest rate risk.
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Authority. The Authority measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a regular basis. With 
respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Authority’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the 
counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents.

The Authority operates predominantly within the shipping and cargo handling industry and accordingly is exposed to risks 
affecting that industry. The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at note 
23(ii).

The Authority follows stringent credit control and management procedures in reviewing and monitoring debtor accounts and 
outstanding balances as evidenced by the historical aged debtor balances. In addition, management of receivable balances 
includes frequent monitoring thereby minimising the Authority’s exposure to bad debts. For financial assets that are either past 
due or impaired, refer to note 14 ‘Trade and other receivables’.

The Authority’s credit risk management is further supported by rental agreements and sections 116 and 117 of the Port 
Authorities Act 1999. Section 116 refers to the liability to pay port charges in respect of vessels and Section 117 refers to the 
liability to pay port charges in respect of goods. Port charges are defined in Section 115.

Liquidity risk

The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of cash reserves 
and its borrowing facilities. The Authority manages its exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring appropriate procedures are in place 
to manage cash flows, including monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

The table below reflects the contractual maturity of financial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are representative of the 
undiscounted amounts at the balance sheet date. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has 
been made where material.

Carrying 
amount

6 months 
or less

6–12 
months

1–2 
years

2–5 
years

More than 
5 years

Financial liabilities $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Trade and other payables 5,208 5,208

Interest bearing borrowings 66,633 3,704 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829

71,841 8,912 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829

2012

Trade and other payables 4,007 4,007

Interest bearing borrowings 76,722 6,492 3,597 7,494 24,539 34,600

80,729 10,499 3,597 7,494 24,539 34,600
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below reflects cash inflows and outflows. Leasing obligations, trade payables 
and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the financing of assets used in the ongoing operations such as property, plant 
and equipment and investments in working capital e.g. inventories and trade receivables. These assets are considered in the 
Authority’s overall liquidity risk.

The table below reflects the contractual maturity of financial liabilities and financial assets. The table includes both interest and 
principal cash flows.

Risk associated with the liability on borrowings is reduced by the Authority paying a guarantee charge. This charge guarantees 
payment to the WATC by the Government for outstanding borrowings in case of default.

Carrying 
amount

6 months 
or less

6–12 
months

1–2 
years

2–5 
years

More than 
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,597 8,597

Trade and other receivables 45,210 10,800 2,606 5,472 13,878 12,454

53,807 19,397 2,606 5,472 13,878 12,454

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 5,208 5,208

Interest bearing borrowings 66,633 3,704 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829

71,841 8,912 3,790 7,902 24,408 26,829

Net maturity (18,034) 10,485 (1,184) (2,430) (10,530) (14,375)

Carrying 
amount

6 months 
or less

6–12 
months

1–2 
years

2–5 
years

More than 
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,000 8,000

Trade and other receivables 52,508 13,131 2,443 5,130 16,602 15,202

60,508 21,131 2,443 5,130 16,602 15,202

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 4,007 4,007

Interest bearing borrowings 76,722 6,492 3,597 7,494 24,539 34,600

80,729 10,499 3,597 7,494 24,539 34,600

Net maturity (20,221) 10,632 (1,154) (2,364) (7,937) (19,398)
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23. Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Categories of financial instruments by fair value

Set out below are the carrying amounts of the Authority’s financial instruments. The Directors consider the carrying amounts of 
the financial instruments represent their net fair values.

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,597 8,000

Trade and other receivables 13,406 15,573

Receivables (non-current) 31,804 36,935

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 5,208 4,007

Variable rate borrowings 4,895 8,577

Fixed rate borrowings 61,738 68,145

The fair value of the interest bearing borrowings was provided by the WATC using a lending curve, based on the various 
maturing dates for each loan, less a margin. The carrying amount, by maturity, of the interest-bearing borrowings that are 
exposed to interest rate risk are disclosed in note 19.

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, 
are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

(iii) Weighted average cost of capital

Within one year 
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate

Fixed 
Interest 
Bearing

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Cash and deposits 1.95% 8,597 8,597

Receivables 45,210 45,210

WATC borrowings (floating rate) 5.11% (4,895) (4,895)

WATC borrowings (fixed rate) 6.27% (61,738) (61,738)

Trade and other payables (5,208) (5,208)

Net financial assets (liabilities) 3,702 (61,738) 40,002 (18,034)

Within one year 
Weighted Average 

Interest Rate

Floating 
Interest 

Rate

Fixed 
Interest 
Bearing

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Cash and deposits 2.95% 8,000 8,000

Receivables 52,508 52,508

WATC borrowings 4.93% (8,577) (8,577)

WATC borrowings 6.36% (68,145) (68,145)

Trade and other payables (4,007) (4,007)

Net financial assets (liabilities) (577) (68,145) 48,501 (20,221)
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24. Commitments

(i) Capital expenditure commitments

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 3,440 -

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - -

Later than 5 years - -

3,440 -

(ii) Lease commitments

The Authority has no lease commitments.

(iii) Finance lease receivable

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Amounts receivable under finance leases:

Within 1 year 7,421 7,421

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 25,012 28,750

Later than 5 years 16,638 20,321

49,071 56,492

Unearned finance income (12,137) (14,748)

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 36,934 41,744

Representing finance lease receivable:

Current (note 14) 5,130 4,809

Non-current (note 14) 31,804 36,935

36,934 41,744

Finance leases receivable are in respect of storage and ship loading facilities. One lease agreement expires on 1 April 2017 and 
is charged interest at 6.598% per annum. The other agreement expires on 1 July 2027 and is charged interest at 6.3% per 
annum.

(iv) Operating leases receivable

2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Future minimum rentals receivable for operating leases at reporting date:

Within 1 year 297 232

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,188 926

Later than 5 years 4,188 4,203

5,673 5,361

Operating leases receivable are in respect of property rentals.
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25. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Auditing the accounts and financial statements 43 42

26. Related parties

The following persons held the position of Director during the financial year:

Robert McKinnon•	
Phil Chalmer•	
Tim Shanahan•	
Kathy Finlayson•	
Kim Horne•	

There are no transactions in the year with the Directors or other related parties. 

27. Contingent liabilities

In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, there are the following contingent liabilities:

A claim has been made by an Esperance Street Sweeping Contractor. During the 2012/13 financial year the quantum •	
of the claim was reduced to ~ $200,000. Esperance Ports Sea & Land continues to dispute this claim and the matter 
remains with the Port’s legal representatives.

Esperance Ports Sea and Land has a contract to load bulk nickel for BHP Billiton Nickel West. Since 8 October 2011 this •	
contract has been frustrated due to the bulk loader no longer being fit for purpose. The Port is unable to obtain funding to 
make the bulk loader operational to continue with this trade as it is presently deemed unviable.

 Legal action may be taken by BHP Billiton Nickel West for breach of contract and the resulting loss of income. The value 
of assets may also require review should the bulk loading facility remain inoperative. BHP is currently trialling alternative 
export methods for nickel which has reduced the likelihood of legal action. Presently there is insufficient information to 
determine the financial impact.      

28. Subsequent Events

Nil.
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the Directors of Esperance Port Authority (the Authority):

(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 28 to 58, are in accordance with the financial reporting provisions of 
the Port Authorities Act 1999, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the 
financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Port 
Authorities Act 1999.

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Authority will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Robert McKinnon      Tim Shanahan

Chairman    Deputy Chair / Director

13 September 2013

Esperance
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Auditor General

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600

        

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Parliament of Western Australia

ESPERANCE PORT AUTHORITY

I have audited the financial report of the Esperance Port Authority. The financial report 
comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, and the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the 
year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory Notes 
and the Directors’ Declaration.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the Esperance Port Authority are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Port Authorities Act 1999, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Port Authorities Act 1999, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Authority’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial report.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.
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Opinion
In my opinion, the financial report of the Esperance Port Authority is in accordance with 
schedule 5 of the Port Authorities Act 1999, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and 
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Report  
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the Esperance Port Authority for the year 
ended 30 June 2013 included on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management is
responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance
on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from this financial report. If users of the financial report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy 
of the audited financial report to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial report. 

DON CUNNINGHAME
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL ASSURANCE SERVICES
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
20 September 2013
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